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DEDICATED

To the Capuchin Missionaries who sacrificed their lives in
the cause of the Tibetan Mission.






FOREWORD

At a time when so much emphasis is put on local Churches
one cannot but regret our ignorance of the origin of the
Church in our part of the world. It would be unfortunate if we
were to forget the valiant men of God, the heralds of the
Good News who laid the foundation of the Church in times and
situations which we, in our relatively comfortable modern way
of life, can hardly imagine. Besides inspiring us by their
vision and zeal, their lives have much to teach us. A well
documented and comprehensive history of the Church in India
is therefore to be earnestly hoped for.

Actually much material exists for the early history of the
Church in North India, but in short sketchy summaries, or in
rare and costly foreign publications, not within the reach and
understanding of the average reader in India, even those few
who have access to important public libraries or to those of
ecclesiastical Institutions.

All will therefore be grateful to Fr. Fulgentius Vannini, a
missionary of the Allahabad and Lucknow dioceses, who after
spending thirty eight years in India, has given us various
studies, fruit of over a dozen years of patient research and
writing, in the midst of other important duties. He had already
published in 1946 the first modern biography of Bishop
Anastasius Hartmann, the first Vicar Apostolic of Patna on the
occasion of the centenary of his appointment. The second
edition, revised and enlarged was published in 1966, to
celebrate the death centenary. Now he is giving to the reading
public three substantial books of great historical and
missiological interest.

The first of these The Bell of Lhasa, is a well documented
historical account of the Capuchin Mission in Tibet from 1704
to 1745.
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After the suppression of the Jesuits, in addition to their vast
mission of North Bihar and northern part of the present West
Bengal, the Capuchins were put in charge of the whole area of
The Vicariate of the Great Moghul, popularly termed the
Agra Mission. The territory in the course of a century and a
half has given rise to over thirty ecclesiastical units of North
India and Pakistan.

It will probably come as a surprise to many readers in India
to hear that a Catholic mission did exist in Tibet for some
forty years, at the beginning of the eighteenth century. The
knowledge we have of it so far may be exemplified by the curt
affirmation of a mission historiographer some years ago : “‘That
mission’’, he says, “had, of Tibet, only the name. It was
in reality the mission of Patna in charge of Capuchins, none
of whom ever set foot in Tibet’> (1). The present book will
show how different was the reality.

Not only did the herald of the Gospel, Fr. Horace Olivieri
of Pennabili, reach Tibet; he worked. there in ways
that have much to teach wus today. Shortly after
his arrival, Fr. Horace Olivieri joined Se-Ra mona-
stery to learn the language and the customs of the monks
and of the people. He lived with them, ate their food, prayed
with them, over and above the Divine Office and Eucharist to
which he was always faithful : a marvellous example of true
adaptation, which sometimes one is given to believe is a recent
discovery.

It is interesting to know that Fr. Horace brought to Lhasa
a complete printing press of Tibetan characters. Brother Paul
of Florence was there to use it, as he had been in his younger
days in the service of the Ducal press in Florence.

The second volume, ‘‘Christian Settlements in Nepal during
XVIII century”, is the history of the same missionaries in the
valley of Nepal. On Pentecost eve, May 12th, 1742, Fr. Horace

(1) Precis d' Histoire de la mission de Pondicherry, J. Lafrenez, 1953
pg. 40. Cf. Clergy Monthly - India Missionary Bulletin, June 1945,
pe. 64.
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received into the Church a number of catechumens among
whom there were five Tibetans. This was the occasion of
a persecution against the missionaries. They were scourged in
the public Square of Shame, where criminal people were
chastised. However the mission in Tibet did not come to an
end immediately. The Regent of Tibet was a one-time great
friend of Fr. Horace and hence did not want to expel him from
Lhasa; though he gave orders to the Governor of Kuti not to
permit any missionary to cross over into Tibet. Things got
worse from day to day. When Fr. Horace foresaw that the
missionaries would one day be expelled from Tibet after his
death, he anticipated the action of the Regent, and decided to
quit Tibet. This was the end of the mission in Tibet.

The third volume Tibet Hindustan Mission (1745-1845)
continues from there. During this period we find more
missionary groups. Nepal was still entrusted to the Capuchins,
where they had four mission stations. Tibet was the
responsibility of the Foreign Missionaries of Paris, who were
already working in China. The extensive territory of North
India was divided in two Ecclesiastical Vicariates of Patna and
Agra. The missionaries were never expelled from Nepal, but
the king of Gurkhas, who controlled the whole valley of Nepal,
made it next to impossible for them to stay on.

Though this history is evidently written with the rigour of a
scholarly work, with a wealth of textual quotations from
original documents and ample footnotes many pages read like a

thrilling account of travel adventures in unknown and forbidden
lands.

At a time when the accent is on ‘“‘religious dialogue’’, one
thing that will strike some readers is the outspoken, not to say,
the aggressive manner in which the missionaries conducted
their religious discussions. This was very much in accord with
the mentality of the time, in the same manner as the Jesuits,
for instance, had been doing at the court of Akbar. It would be
perfectly idle speculation, after more than two centuries, to ask
whether the outcome of both missions would have been better,
had the missionaries adopted a more peaceful method. It would
be unfair, to say the least, to judge the language of a past age
by the criteria adopted today.
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The same may be said of another common element of both
the missions. Both groups, in Agra as in Lhasa, endeavoured
Jrom the start to gain a hearing from the head and ruling class
of the country. After gaining a certain measure of initial
tolerance and interest, both failed in their wonderful plan: “let
us convert the ruler and the intelligentsia, and the whole country
will follow™’. The story of the conversion of the Roman empire
after the baptism of Constantine, of Gauls after the
conversion of Clovis or of Hungary under its king St. Stephen
has not been repeated often in later mission history, whatever
may be the theoretical value of this procedure as a mission
policy.

Many other questions will arise in the mind of the reader,
concerned about the life of the Church. This is one of the
purposes of History, that the experience of the past be a guide
for the future.

The author can certainly be assured that his research over
the years will certainly bear fruit and, God willing, will
encourage someone to prepare a comprehensive history of the
Church in India.

Feast of the Uganda Martyrs Patrick D’Souza
June 3, 1976 Bishop of Varanasi



AUTHOR’S PREFACE

The present work is a study in the History of the
Missions in Tibet. It is an account of the pioneering
adventure of the sons of St. Francis of Assisi to bring the
Good News into the strongholds of Lamaistic Buddhism.
The Mission, in fact, flourished for a while, showed signs of
a rich harvest; and then, the force of circumstances compell-
ed it to an abrupt end.

| was motivated to carry on this study over a number of
years for no other reason than to record in history that once
in the past, the whole of the Northern Missions of India, in
particular, of the Tibetan Mission as it was then called, was
cared for by the Capuchin missionaries. Since then the
Church has grown and is still growing as a sign of Christ’s
presence in India.

| would be failing in my duty if | were not to record
my grateful thanks to all those who have helped me in
one way or other so that this work may see the light of day.
First in the list come Mgr. Malenfant O.F.M. Cap., the
erstwhile Vicar Apostolic of Varanasi and Bishop Patrick
D’Souza of Varanasi for their keen interest, constant encoura-
gement and wise suggestions throughout this work. Bishop
Patrick has put me under a loving obligation by providing an
excellent foreword that would make an author's preface
redundant. My grateful thanks to all my superiors and
confreres for providing me with opportunities to take up this
work and encouraging me at every stage. To Mr. Thomas
Smith who kindly read through the manuscript and polished
the linguistic expressions. Thanks are also due to the
Director, /stituto Poligrafico dello Stato, Rome, Italy for
permitting me to reprint some of the copyright photos from
the // Nuovo Ramusio I/ by Prof. Luciano Petech. To Fr. John
Joseph and Bro. Cassian Agera, my Indian confreres for their
loving service of seeing the book through the press. To
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Messrs. Devarsons for the neat printing and the cover
design. It would certainly be unfair if | do not acknowledge
so many authors in the field whom | have freely referred to
and the officials of the many libraries who put at my disposal
those precious original documents. As they are too many
to name individually, let me be contented only with a silent
remembrance of them. To all these without whose love,
encouragement and help this work would not come today
to the public, let me say a sincere ‘thank you'.

Fr. Fulgentius Vannini O.F.M. Cap.
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ABBREVIATIONS

We give here the abbreviations of the works which have
been most frequently used as historical sources in the com-
pilation of the present work. The other books of reference
from which quotations have been used will be mentioned
in full on the first occasion and thereafter will be referred
to as op. cit., after giving the necessary indications. .

NUQVO
RAMUSIO

RAPPRESENTANZA

MEMORIE
ISTORICHE

I Missionart Italiani nel Tibet ¢ ncl
Nepal, by Prof. Luciano Petech ;
Parte I, la Libreria della Stato,
Roma MCMLII ; parte I, Roma
MCMLII ; parte 111, Roma
MCMLIII ; parte 1V, Roma
MCMLIII ; parte V, Roma
MCMLIV ; parte VI, Roma
MCMLV; parte VII, Roma
MCMLVI. The Nuovo Ramusio is
a collection of letters, reports,
travel accounts and other docu-
ments, relating to the Italian
Missionaries in Tibet and Nepal,
published by the ISMEO of Rome,
that is, Istituto Italiano per il
Medio ed Estremo Oriente.

Alla Sacra Congregazione de Pro-
paganda Fide deputata sopra la
Missione del Gran Thibet, rappre-
sentanza de’ Padri Cappuccini
Missionari, dello stato presente
della medesima ¢ de’ provvedi-
menti per mantenerla ed accres-
cerla. Roma 1738.

Memorie istoriche delle virtu,
viaggi e fatiche del P. Giuseppe
Maria De’ Bernini da Gargnano,
scritte dal P. Cassiano da Macerata,
stato suo compagno, Verona
MDCCLXVII, nella Stamperia
Moroni.



GIORNALE

TERZORIO

Il Giornale del P. Cassiano da
Macerata, a 203 page manuscript
narrating events and experiences of
Fr. Cassian Beligatti and his com-
panions during their journey from
Rome to Lhasa (July 1738—January
1741).

In India ¢ nel Tibet, Missionari
Italiani nel Paese dei Lama, 1704—
1745, by Fr. Clemente da Terzorio,
Rome 1932.

N. B. The document known as Rappresentanza, No. 2
above, was translated (with minor modifications and
some additions here and there, reproduced from the
missionaries’ correspondence or other sources) into
German and Spanish, and published at Munich and
Madrid in the year 1740 and 1744 respectively. The
German translation is usually known as ‘‘Missio-

. Apostolica thibetano-seraphica’’.



CHAPTER 1

HISTORICAL SETTINGS OF THE MISSION

On the Tibetan hillside stands a monastery of Buddhist
monks. The road that runs by it is hard and rough, swept
in summer by clouds of blinding dust and grit, and in winter
by ice-cold blasts, carrying with them from their mountain
sources, sheets of rain and driving sleet. The monastery
itself is old and quaint, with lofty painted walls and a
queerly-shaped roof ; and in the side facing the road are a
number of niches, each containing a strange contrivance,
something like a rattle.

The rattle is the world-famous Tibetan Prayer-Wheel.
It is covered with lettering in strange characters which are
words of Buddhist prayers. The Tibetan Buddhist believes
that a turn of the Prayer-Wheel is as good as saying the
prayers which are inscribed on it.

By one of these way-side shrines sat one day a Catholic
Missionary and a Buddhist monk, engaged in lively conversa-
tion over the ancient past.

“Oh, yes,”” replied the Buddhist sage, ‘I have heard it
myself that in the olden times there used to be Christians all
over this land of ours, but now they seem to have vanished
into thin air”’.

“As a matter of fact’”, put in the missionary, ‘I have
come from a far-off country in search of them. Merchants
and travellers have spread rumours abroad that communities
of Christians still exist in some hidden corners of Central
Asia. I bave noticed figures and symbols which may have
significant resemblance to the Catholic mode of worship. I
wonder if these external marks and signs are in any way
related to the faith which was once preached in these lonely
Himalayan regions.”’

Trade, plunder, sheer love of adventure—all these are
accepted as motives for Western expansion in the Age of
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Discovery. However, there is another motive that was
powerful at the time, though it tends to be forgotten today—
that s, search for Christian lands and possible allies beyond
the Islamic belt. Representatives ol Eastern and African
Christians had long been encountered at Jerusalem which
gave rise to strange legends. The most inspiring of all was
that of the great Christian priest-king, John Prester, diffe-
rently located in China or India and sometimes in Ethiopia.
Then there were the St. Thomas’ Christians of India,
thought to be a powerful kingdom. It was an anti-climax
when Portuguese exploration reduced legend to fact.

Though the Christian kingdoms, long talked about in
the west, were found to be non-existent by the Portuguese
conquerors, the legend continued to persist that unspecified
tracts of lJand in the interior of Asia held ancient Christian
settlements, like water locked islands, in the midst of unex-
plored seas.

In the dim past, so it was believed, Christianity had
spread over wide areas in Central Asia. St. Thomas, the
Apostle, was credited with traversing the Himalayan Range
to bring the Faith to tribes and peoples, who now lived far
apart and scattered like lost sheep. Another strange tale
was that Northern India, at the time of the Musliin Invasion,
was full of Christians. who fled beyond the mountains to
avoid persecution.

Mediaeval itinerants lent support to this wild rumour.
Benjamin of Tudela, a Jewish Rabbi from Spain, travelled
far and wide in Europe and Asia (in the years 1159-1173) to
discover where the Jews, the ‘lost tribes’” had settled in
any large nuinbers. He was amazed to find so many Nes-
torian Christians in regions so far remote as the borders of
China. Marco Polo constantly gives enumerations of the
Christian population in the larger centres. Other mediaeval
travellers—notably Christians and less frequently Moslems—
make the same observation.

The legend did not explode till late in the eighteenth
century. The writings of the Capuchin Tibetan Missionaries
are full of references to the existence of Christians in the
mystical land of Tibet, prior to the introduction of Budd-
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hism. The religious organisation, the creed, and ritual are
there to confirm, they said, that St. Thomas, the Apostle.
crossed into that country to preach the Gospel and that the
Christian faith was once the religion of the people. Of all
this nothing is left now, except a corrupt form of Christianity.
In the absence of priests and churches, in the face of cruel
persecution, the followers of Christ were laid low by the
onslaught of Buddhism, but still they do preserve some rudi-
mentary forms of Christian belief. The Capuchins were not
alone in holding this view. Some imaginative writers went
to the length of stating that the Dalai Lama was none other
than the successor of the Nestorian Patriarch of the
east.

Missionaries, however, never came across isolated com-
munities which could be called Christian in origin and
character. How the story came into existence and gained
currency is still a puzzle. Yet, perhaps, it might be someth-
ing like a mirage or the myth of the elusive **‘Abominable
Snowman’’—a thing seen, but hardly believed.

The striking similarity in the external symbols of worship
between Christianity and Lamaism may partly be res-
ponsible for bungling things up. The crozier, the initre, the
dalmatic, the cope which the high-ranking Lamas wear, the
office chanted alternately, the form of exorcism, the benedic-
tion given by the Lamas, not to speak of the beads, the
incense, the cross, the vow of celibacy, the monasteries and
nunneries, the ceremony of clothing and profession, the fast
and abstinence, the spiritual retreat, the tonsure, the con-
fession, the litanies, the wuse of holy water, etc.—all these
are some of the similarities which can be pointed out at first
sight. To make confusion worse confounded, they have also
a kind of sacrifice which is offered up to God in the form of
bread and wine, with the sharing in it by some of the
Lamas.

Quite a lot of things, which in their external form, look
identical, have now been discounted, i.e. they do have them,
but there is nothing in common, in origin and in meaning,
with the Christian ritual.

Merchants and travellers in their wanderings across the
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plains and uplands of Central Asia witnessed these symbols
and ceremonies. Unacquainted with the language and
customs of the people, and looking at them from their
Christian background, they were easily misled into ‘‘seeing
things.”” Their close resemblance to Christian institutions
and way of life, worked up their imagination and misled
them. This is one of the possible explanations which may
have given rise to the belief that vast tracts of Asia were
inhabited by broken-off Christian communities.

On the other hand, it cannot be denied that from the
sixth to the end of the ninth century, Nestorian and
Armenian Missionaries penetrated into Mongolia, Chinese
Turkestan and possibly Tibet in an effort to propagate the
Christian religion. Monuments and inscriptions relating to
their activities are still there to be seen. Manichaeans are
also known to have helped in the spread of Christianity in
the eastern hemisphere. Whether, and how far, the
Nestorian monks exercised any influence in the religious
development of Tibet or brought some Christian ideas into
the camps of Buddhism, is still open to discussion. There
are some who still hold that either Buddhism copied from
the Christian liturgy or else the ancient Christian popula-
tions of Asia were swallowed up by Buddhism. Under the
impact, the Christians gradually merged with the new
pervading faith, keeping as a remnant a few external
symbols and ceremoies, which in the course of time, lost
their original meaning.

We leave it at that. What we are driving at here is that
the belief was kept alive over long centuries. Responsible
people earnestly believed it and both the Jesuit and Capu-
chin Missions in Tibet were motivated by the hope of dis-
covery by these supposedly long-last Christian colonies.

At the Court of the Great Moghul

The exploratian of Tibet and the origin of Tibetan Mis-
sion are incidentally linked up with the “Jesuit Legation’ to
the court of Great Moghul. Up to the seventeenth century,
little was known about the mysterious land of the Lamas ;
and even that little was vague and confused like a shattered
dream. Cryptic reference can be found in the old Greek
and Roman writers. The invasion of Alexander the Great
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brought the west into closer touch with the east. Asa
consequence, western geography became vaguely acquainted
with Emodon and Imaon i.e. the Himalaya the snow abode.
Ptolemy, the greatest geographer of antiquity, speaks of the
Bautai as people living in the Imaon regions. This is the
first reference to the inhabitants of a country which may be
broadly identified as Tibet.

Over one thousand years had to pass before any further
progress could be made on the subject. During the thir-
teenth and fourteenth centuries, missionaries, traders and
travellers moved east to establish contacts with the then
flourishing Mongol empire. They brought back to Europe
sensational accounts of the Orient, which served to give the
eastern countries and their people wide publicity. Thus the
West became more curious about Asia and with it grew the
urge to increase its geographical knowledge.

It is now generally admitted that none of the travellers of
the Middle Ages, whose narratives have come down to us,
ever entered the confines of what i1s now known as Tibet.
Diverse allusions are made to it and under different names,
but all is of a vague and hearsay nature. The places most
proximate and actually reached, skirted around that seclud-
ed land. The first to introduce the name of Tibet into the
European geography were Marco Polo and the Franciscan
missionaries of the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries. They
had heard of it from the Mongolians who alluded to that
country as Tobat, a word which was transcribed by them as
Tibet. The entrance of Europeans into that high, bleak
plateau, is a feat of later centuries. Nevertheless, these
travellers’ tales caused revolutionary changes in the geo-
graphical knowledge of Asia. It was like the temporary
lifting of mist over a large landscape which brought into
prominence the most salient features.

Then came the decline of the Mongol power and all
interest in the east also waned. These regions sank once
again, for nearly two hundred years, into oblivion. All
the Christian missions disappeared in the turmoil that
followed the fall of the Mongols and the accession of the
Ming dynasty, (1368).



Europe had almost forgotten all about the east, but it did
not so easily forget the strange stories circulated by the
Middle-Age travellers. In due course, they spurred them
on to action. In the almost feverish rush for conquest
which gripped Europe in the fifteenth and sixteenth centu-
ries, astronomers and navigators vied with one another to
cross the gates of the unknown. While astronomers scanned
the skies to discover new planetary orbits, explorers and
navigators sailed out to the east and west, passing over the
highways of the seas, hoping somehow to reach a new pro-
mised land. The fabulous east, and 1in particular the
glorious land of Cathay-—so much talked and written about
—lured Columbus across the Atlantic. A few years later,
Vasco de Gama sailed from Portugal to the Orient with
letters for the priest-king John Prester. In 1513 the Portu-
guese discovered the coast of China, a land which was
easily identified with the Roman Thin or Sinae. And yet,
Cathay, Europe’s fondest fancy, refused to yield its secret.
Had the Franciscan Missionaries been deceived or was
Marco Polo’s story a clever piece of fiction ?

In the explorers’ wake Christian priests sailed to baptise
the new-born worlds. Already in 1583 the Jesuits had
pushed into the mainland adjoining Macao—the Portuguese
enclave on the China coast. While engaged in the explora-
tion of the land, they were in fact searching for another
country, which eluded their grasp—Cathay. On contem-
porary maps China was a mere fringe of the coast around
Macao, but the interior still remained a repository of myth.
On the contrary, Cathay, the land of the lost Christian
colonies, figured like a large blank space on maps. It was
tentatively marked as a vague and vast portion of territory
lying east of Persia and north-west of China.

Years later, the same valiant children of St. Ignatius set
out from India, to the west of Cathay, to discover the land
which was still like a sealed book or a jig-saw puzzle.
Cathay was attacked from the east and west. Among other
things what the Jesuits had in mind was to establish an
overland bridge of communication between the two far
apart mission settlements. It was in the course of this probe
that these daring pioneers crossed the mountain barriers
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that cut off Tibet from the surrounding regions, and pene-
trated into that forbidden land. This brings us back to the
coming of the Jesuits to the Court of the great Moghul.

Almost simultaneously the Portuguese and the Moghuls
set foot on the Indian soil. The Portuguese aspired for the
dominion of the eastern seas and the Moghuls fought for
control of the Indian sub-continent. Both played a decisive
role in the history of the country.

Of all European nations Portugal was the first to find a
waterway to India. This was accomplished when Vasco de
Gama sailed around the Cape of Good Hope and landed
on the Malabar coast in 1498. The Portuguese venture was
both a military expedition and a crusade. They wanted to
enlarge their possessions and at the same time stem the
growing power of Islam, which was then at the gates of
Europe, from the rear. Together with the army, the
Portuguese brought with them missionaries and traders,
hoping somehow that these would win over to their side,
whatever their army failed to get by conquest.

The Portuguese were firmly anchored on the shores of
Goa when the Great Akbar, a boy of thirteen, succeeded
his father in 1556.

From the early days of his reign Akbar realised that in
order to keep his kingdom peaceful and united, he had to
make friends with all people and creeds of his realm.
Accordingly, he set about to oppose a militant orthodox
Islam by formally abolishing, in 1564, the Jizya Tax or poll
tax on non-Muslims and by rescinding the taxes previously
levied on Hindu pilgrims. This greatly enhanced his popu-
larity. Further, the bitter religious controversies of the
time distressed him profoundly and he sought for a formula
by which the discordant elements could be reconciled. The
new type of religion he contrived to establish among his
people was to be more pragmatic than theorelic—a form
of electicism that aimed chiefly at the worship of God and
at the service of our fellowmen.

To pursue his object Akbar built an ‘Ibadat khana’ or
House of Worship at Fatehpur Sikriin 1575. This was
intended to serve as a kind of academy in which the repre-
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sentatives of the different religious groups—the Hindus,
Muslims, Jains, Zoroastrians and Christians—could freely
put forward their religious views and thrash them out in a
spirit of mutual understanding. The skeptic emperor took
lively interest in these discussions as it suited his political
programme.

At about this time, the first two Jesuit missionaries had
arrived in Bengal. Their converts had defrauded the
imperial revenue ; the priests thereon refused to give them
absolution. Akbar came to know about it and was greatly
impressed. What was this creed which set its face against
dishonesty even to a foreign government ?

In 1579, the great Emperor, sent a delegation to Goa
with the object of inviting the Jesuits to his court. The
invitation was readily accepted and the Portuguese Govern-
ment received the news with joy. There was also great
rejoicing, dreaming of an early conversion of the whole of
India to the faith.

Blessed Rudolph Aquaviva, a Napolitan, Fr. Anthony de
Montserrat, a Portuguese and Fr. Francis Henriques, a
Persian convert from Islam, were entrusted with this impor-
tant mission. They left Goa on 17th November, 1579, and
travelling via Surat and Gwalior, arrived at the capital
which was then at Fatehpuri Sikri, 37 kilometers to the
west of Agra, on the 28th of February, 1580.

Fr. Anthony de Montserrat had a scholarly bent of mind.
Before leaving Goa he was told to take down the names of
rivers, the regions he traversed, the manners and customs
of the different peoples and anything of interest he may
eventually come across. In this way was born his “Com-
mentary to the Moghul Legation—a veritable store-house
of information and legend.

In the years that followed the Jesuits accompanied the
emperor wherever he went. They came in touch with all
sorts of people—travellers and traders, adventurers and
story-tellers, men of good faith and unabashed liars. They
listened and noted down everything.

While in Kangra (Punjab) Fr. A. de Montserrat heard
for the first time people speak of Both and Bothant as a
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region to the east of Kangra Fort, in the innermost part of
Imaon (Himalava). Yogies and traders who had visited
the country reported that traces of Christianity could be
seen everywhere. Pressed on to give more particulars and
detatled information, some pilgrims came out with the
same sensational news. Imaon, they said, is a range of
very high mountains, most difficult to cross, but once the
top is gained, a beautiful tableland, fertile and inhabited,
unfolds itself in a majestic panorama to the visitor’s eye.
On the banks of a lake, called Mansuor (Mansarowar) by
the natives, there is an ancient city whose inhabitants gather
together, every eight days, at a common place of worship.
In this manner they offered up their prayers and sacrifice.
The men squat down cross-legged on the right side of the
temple, the womenfolk occupy the other half. In the
centre, the most sacred spot, there is a raised platform with
a kind of table onit. The celebrant, dressed in white, 1s
brought two golden vases, which contain bread and wine.
He reads from a book and all present respond in reply. A
sermon is also preached during the ceremony. Towards
the end of it, all get up, orderly and silently, first the men
and then the women and go before the celebrant to receive
from him a piece of bread and a sip of wine. Then they
return to their respective seats. The ceremony over, every
one goes back home.

This struck Fr. de Montserrat as a graphic description of
the Holy Sacrifice of the Mass. He took out a rough map
and under the name Mansuor put the remark—‘Hic
dicuntur Christiani habitare”—(it is said that there are
Christians.)

Bl. R. Aquaviva was also allergic to this tantalising news.
Writing to his uncle, the Superior General of the Society,
he states that they had discovered a country called Bottan.
It was situated beyond Lahore, towards the source of the
Hindu river. The inhabitants were fair, well-inclined to
religion and piety; there were no Mohammedans among
them and there were good hopes of reaping an abundant
harvest of souls.

This acted upon them like a thriller. Joy and curiosity
mingled together in their excited minds and hearts. The
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Fathers were about to probe into the matter when in 1583,
the Legation returned to Goa.

Fifteen years later Fr. Jerome Xavier S.J. and Bro.
Benedict de Gose S.J., both Portuguese nationals, were with
the Great Akbar in Kashmir. Here again they heard aboul
the existence of Christian communities, churches, priests and
bishops in regions further east. Anxious to verify the infor-
mation they wrote letters, in Persian and I'ortuguese, to the
Bishops reported to be living in those distant places and
despatched them through three different channels. It was
like writing to the inhabitants of another planet. No answer
was ever received.

Back at Lahore, Fr.J. Xavier, a relative of St. Francis
Xavier, had another surprise. He was talking to Prince
Salim, the future emperor Jahangir, when a Mohammedan
merchant walked into the royal palace. He was an old man
of about sixty years of age. Asked where he was coming
from, he replied that he was on his way from the kingdom
of Xatai via Mecca. He had been there for about 13 years.
Gradually the conversation drifted to Xatai, the characteri-
stics of the people, their religion and customs. The old man
was eager to tell his story and said that he had gone to
Xatai disguised as a merchant but in fact as ambassador of
the King of Caygar (Kashmir). The people of Xatai, he
went on to say, were fair-complexioned, good-looking and
wore a long beard. In regard to their religion they were
the “followers of Jesus, followers of Moses and there are
also many Mohammedans.”’

Fr. J. Xavier was so taken in by the story that he wanted
to know more about it. In a private interview with the
merchant, the latter confirmed what he had already stated
in regard to the existence of Christians in the kingdom of
Xatai. He spoke about their churches, images, Crucifix,
celibate priests, study houses, monasteries and so forth.
Questioned whether there was any bishop among them, the
old man became hesitant but stated that there were different
ranks of ministers. The king himself was a Christian and he
was most devout and generous in promoting the cult of his
religion.
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Fr. J. Xavier's imagination was naturally set on fire by
these fascinating tidings. His feet were itching. No one
could resist the temptation to go and look for these lost
Christian settlements. Hopefully he wrote to his Superiors
in Goa, expressing the wish to organise an expedition into
the mysterious land of Xatai. The reaction was deep and
swift, bringing the enthusiastic approval of the authorities.
The good offices of the great Akbar were enlisted and things
soon began to take a more definite shape.

Epic Journey

The missionaries were enthralled by the curious accounts
they had heard of Both, Bothant or Bottan as well as
Cathay, Catai or Xatai. To them these places were names
without a precise geographical meaning. In particular they
desired very much to know the whereabouts of Cathay, so
much talked of in the thirteenth century by Marco Polo,
which, according to the Mohammedan merchant, was in-
habitated by Christian communities.

Fr. Matthew Ricci S.J., who had already settled in Peking
since January 1601, had written many letters to his con-
freres in India to show that China and Peking were in
reality the Cathay and the Khanbalu of the travellers of the
middle ages, but his theory was difficult to accept. The
identity of the two had never so far been absolutely estab-
lished. In the circumstances the Jesuits at the court of
Akbar resolved to put an end to the doubt and to set out
from India to find the exact location of Cathay in respect to
the neighbouring countries and from there proceed to
Peking. This would also enable them to find out whether a
line of communication with China, shorter than the sea
route, or at least less risky, could be established. They
wrote, via Macao, to Fr. Ricci and told him that certain
missionaries of the Society had determined to reach Peking
by land, following the direction of the Indian embassies.
which route was used for commercial purposes to Cathay.
The adventurous travellers would carry letters for the
Superior of the China Mission.

Many wishéd to share in the honour of rediscovering a
lost country, of contacting isolated groups of Christians
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tucked away somewhere in a remote and unmapped part of
the globe. The lot, however, fell on Bro. Benedict de
Goes. He was then a man in his forties, alert and physi-
cally fit for the task. As a young man he had joined the
army and seen service in India. He was singled out on ac-
count of his outstanding qualities, courage and prudence
combined with a good knowledge of the Persian language
and of the Muslim customs.

Since the Brother would be travelling, at least during the
first stages of the journey, among Muslims, he decided to
hide the fact that he was a detested Portuguese. Allowing
his hair and beard to grow long, he dressed as an Armenian
Christian merchant, taking the auspicious name of Abdullah
Isaii.e. Christsan servant of the Lord. A complement of
six men was appointed to act as companions and servants.
Horses and pack mules, were bought to carry a good supply
of merchandise, mostly lapis lazuli, purchased in part with
the emperor’s generous contribution. By trading along
the route the Brother would find the means of support for
himself and the members of his staff. Akbar was further
pleased to give him letters of recommendation to allied or
tributary princes along the way.

On the 28th of October, 1602, with Akbar’s blessing, the
brave Brother set out from Agra in search of Cathay and the
scattered groups of Christians, now lost in the maze of time
and space. It was to be an epic journey, covering some six
thousand kilometers and stretching over a lengthy period of
four lonely years. His way led him through extensive plains,
across big rivers as yet unspanned by bridges, over hills and
mountains, ranging from 3 to 5 thousand meters above sea
level, with dense forests in some places and barren as the
desert in others, swept by strong winds and unnegotiable
gorges, in every season of the year and under every kind of
climate.

Lahore, the first stage of the journey, was safely reached
within six weeks. Here every year a caravan of some
hundred merchants was formed to travel to Kabul. The
four Muslim servants, newly converted to Christianity and
given to him at Agra, were sent back as they had already
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given signs of being untrustworthy. In their place an
Armenian Christian named Isaac was engaged. Throughout
the weary and interminable land travelling Isaac proved
himself a most reliable and faithful companion and friend.

In mid-March 1603, the caravan took off from Lahore
wending its way north-westwards through Peshawar and
the Khyber Pass. An escort of four hundred soldiers had to
be provided to guard against the robbers infesting countries
through which it was to traverse. Despite all precautions the
caravanieri had to beat off several armed gangs before re-
aching Kabul, the most western point of the journey.

Bro. de Goes, always on the look-out for Christian
settlements, fell in with a hermit on pilgrimage. From the
manner of his speech, Goes believed, for one hopeful
moment, that he had casually stumbled upon one of them
until it became clear that the hermit was a follower of an
ancient Iranian religion whose members had stubbornly
refused to be absorbed into the Islamic fold.

While in the Afghan capital the Brother met the sister of
Kashgar’s ruler on her way back from a pilgrimage to
Mecca. She had been robbed and lacked the money to
complete the journey. Generously the Brother sold some
of his merchandise and lent her what she needed. After a
delay of seven months at Kabul a new caravan was at last
organised. Bro. de Goes found himself once more upon the
road, accompanied by the faithful Isaac. His other two
companions had already lost heart and deserted him.

The road lay north north-east over the mountain range of
the Hindu Kush, down into the mud hovels of Badakshan
region and then, after crossing the plateau of Pamirs, made
for Kashgar and Yardkhan, the capital of Turkestan. It
was late in 1603 that the travellers could rest at this half
way stage of the journey.

The march of the caravan was slow and in perpetual con-
flict with robbers ; precipitous mountains, great rivers and
rushing torrents had to be negotiated at the peril of life.
Many of the travellers were frozen to death and some
buried beneath avalanches. Once they were caught in a
local war. Prevented by the large quantity of their baggage
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to cscape, they made barricades out ol their bales of mer-
chandise and entrenched themselves behind them. On
seeing this extempore fortification, the Tartars sent
messengers to assure the travellers that far from hostile
intention, they had come to defend them from the enemies.

The undaunted Brother had his share of adventure too.
He fell ill and became embroiled with a local governor, who
refusing to honour the letter of exemption given by Akbar,
demanded duty on his merchandise. One day, while riding
a little apart from the column, he was attacked by four
bandits. They were on the point of robbing him when, with
admirable presence of ‘mind, he had recourse to a trick.
He pulled off his rich Persian head-gear, threw it up among
them and while the robbers rushed after and quarrelled
over this magnificent booty, he set spurs to his horse and
succeeded in gaining his companions.

Yarkand was then a large flourishing town. Merchants
thronged to it from all parts of Asia. Those who intended
to continue their journey eastwards were obliged to wait
for sometime. To his despair, Bro de Goes was told that
next caravan would not leave for a year or so. Anyway, he
was pleased to hear peoqle speak of Cathay as a well-known
country and that it lay ahead, a journey of several months
hard travelling.

Refreshed from the long strenuous journey Bro de Goes
started moving from Yarkand in order to better acquaint
himself with the main object of his expedition. A Tibetan
king was lying in a local prison. It was a golden opportu-
nity to find out from him whether the people of his country
had any knowledge of Christanity. The interview left him
perplexed. He was informed that their chief priest wore a
mitre on his head and donned a robe akin to a chausable.
Their priests did not marry ; the people observed fast for
forty days; believed in heaven and hell and in the last day
of judgment, possessed a Sacred Book, the name of which
in their own language sounded something like the Latin
Evangelium. Goes thought it possible that some form of
Christianity might be practised among those mountain
tribes, but had no time to ascertain it as the immediate
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scope of his mission lay elsewhere. Further, some articles
imported from Cathay aroused his curiosity. It seemed to
him that Christian symbols and figures appeared to be
depicted on paintings, hand fans, hardware and porcelain
which were displayed in the Yarkand bazar. Was wish father
of the thought or was it the beginning of an adventure that
would lead him to discover the lost Christian sects ? He
would soon see with his own eyes.

At the invitation of Her Highness, the sister of Kashgar’s
ruler, whom he had helped at Kabul, de Goes visited her
palace at Khotan—ten days’ journey to the south east. The
region was famous throughout Asia for its jade. He returned
to Yarkand with the money he had loaned and a magnificent
present of jade varieties, that commanded high price in
Cathay.

In the autumn of 1604, the caravan for Cathay started
getting under way. The ruler of the country reserved for
himself a sort of monopoly on these expeditions and sold,
at a very high price, the title of chief of the caravan or
rather ambassador. Whosoever bought this privilege had
the right to command other travellers, direct the course of
the march and in Cathay he enjoyed certain commercial
advantages and was treated like an ambassador from a
foreign country. This suited the emperor’s vanity and the
cupidity of the merchants and mandarins. The Emperor of
the Celestial Empire, who always looked upon himself as
the suzerain of all the kings upon the earth, felt extremely
flattered by the little presents and the generous marks of
respect paid to him by these bogus ambassadors. In return
he would load them, on their departure, with expensive
gifts and a declaration of friendship.

One night, in mid-November, the caravan filed through
eastern gate of Yarkand to face the wilderness and the
profoud silence of the steppes of Tartary. High mountains
and sandy plains were their companions through Aksu,
Turfan, Hami, the Gobi or Shamo desert as far as Suchau,
in the heart of China. The rotting dead bodies of merchants
murdered and stripped by robbers were a common sight
along the desolate route. Often it was unsafe to travel by
day. The caravan waited till night closed in, and then
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silently, and under cover of darkness, left the encampment.
Thirsty, numbed with cold and heavy with sleep, the travel-
lers pushed on till day-break.

Bro. de Goes stopped at Suchau about Christmas 1605,
exhausted but hopeful, waiting for the turn of events. The
Great Walls of China, which practically terminated at the
North-western end of Suchau, was claimed to mark the
frontier of Cathay. Here its capital was spoken of as
Peking. Gradually the curtain lifted and the elusive and
much dreamed of Cathay, was turning into the reality of
China.

During his trek Bro. de Goes despatched letters to Agra
and Peking to inform his confreres of the progress of the
journey, his plans and difficulties, but never received any
reply. Talking one day to a group of Mohammedan
merchants, on their way back from Cathay, they were able
to get some news abott Fr. Matteo Ricci (known as Ma-
tou Lee in Chinese) and his companions. It was heartening
to hear of them after such a long and anxious period of
silence and expectation. The missionaries at Peking on the
other hand were prey to many anxious fears. They had
learnt by letter from the Superior of the Indian mission
that Bro. Goes had started in the month of October, 1602
and now in 1606, no information had been received of the
expedition.

On Easter Day, 1606, the much-tired Brother wrote again
to Fr. Ricci and this time entrusted his letter to a
Mohammedan traveller who was visiting the Chinese capital
secretely. The missive stated inter alia—“I was sent by
my Superiors to discover Cathay, but I now believe that
no such country exists, for I have traversed Asia without
finding it and this country which we in Europe call China,
is known to the people of Central Asia as Cathay. 1 have
found no Christians. I have suffered greatly...... I am
exhausted and I wish to return to India by the sea route.
If I wait until the caravan is allowed to pass to the capital,
I shall be here two years, for that is the customary delay’’.

The letter fell into Fr. Ricci’s hands in November of the
same year. It brought him relief and joy for the intrepid
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traveller was already mourned as dead. On receipt of the
letter Fr. Ricci lost no time in sending a resourceful young
man, John Fernandes, (converts were given a Christian
name and a Portuguese surname) to bring Goes and his
companions to Peking. He was a Chinese candidate for
admission to the Society and knew Portuguese.

Travelling with great rapidity, John Fernandes was
nearing the capital of the Shan-si Province when his
Christian servant, a Chinese neophyte, carried off the
common purse and fled with his booty. Alone and penni-
less, the messenger succeeded in reaching Suchau towards
the end of March 1607, nearly four months after he had
left Peking.

Meanwhile, Bro. De Goes had become a destitute ;
hunger and suffering had broken his health. He had
arrived at Suchau as a prosperous merchant, still accomp-
anied by the faithful Isaac and five servants from Yarkand.
Under false excuses he was tricked into giving away subs-
tantial loans and to sell a good deal of his jade stones.
His day was now far spent, but the task was accomplished.

John Fernandes found him stretched on a pallet, and
about to breathe his last. On hearing that he was addressed
in his native tongue in such an outlandish place, the fever-
stricken patient seemed to revive and regain strength.
Taking delivery of the letter sent him by Fr. Ricci, he
read it with deep emotion. Then, after lifting his hands to
heaven, he clenched the letter to his heart and closed his
eyes. A few days later, he was dead. His mortal remains
were interred at the foot of the Great Wall of China on
11th April, 1607.

During the illness of this heroic missionary many visited
him in his humble dwelling on the pretext to attend to his
needs but in reality their display of kindness was far from
being disinterested. They robbed him systematically of his
worldly possessions. The most valuable object was a
complete diary of his journey, in which Goes had later
made an entry in Persian of the loans he had given. This
they tore to pieces so that the debts could no longer be
claimed. Isaac and Fernandes, however, managed to
salvage the ruined manuscript and take it to Fr. Ricci.
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The Brother had passed away peacefully with a smile on
his face feeling satisfied that he had fulfilled the mission
entrusted to him by his Superiors. He had, in fact, solved
the riddle. Cathay and China were merely two names
referring to one and the same country. The difference of
name had arisen from a difference of approach. Travellers
in the Middle Ages had entered this country through
Turkestan, to the north west, and knew their destination as
Cathay, while the same territory was called China by the
travellers who approached it from the south east.

This valiant missionary had made clear another important
point—the lost communities of Christians he had been
sent to look for, were only a myth. Ifin fact they existed,
and if another search had to be made for them, the prea-
chers of the Gospel would be better advised to turn their
steps in another direction.

Descobrimento Do Gram Cathayo

A bitter disappointment is not sufficient for an enter-
prising person to give up a cherished hope. Bro. de Goes’
death had proved how hard and futile was the quest for
the lost Christian settlements ; yet the missionaries at the
court of Akbar continued to listen with avid interest to
similar stories and in their thirst for souls, were urged to
search for new ventures. Meanwhile, new relevant data
had come to light, narrowing down the area of search and
increasing the probability of meeting with some success.

From Yarkand Bro. de Goes had written to his confreres
in India about his interview with the Tibetan King. He
informed them that he had so far not met any isolated
pocket of Christians and that there was no likelihood of
his finding any during the rest of his journey to Peking;
but it could not be excluded that the much sought after
dispersed Christian communities could be living in the
mountainous region of Tabete (Tibet)—a month’s journey
to the south east of Yarkand. The Brother’s letter reached
[ndia in 1606, but the topographical identification of places
(Tabete was known then in Northern India as Both or
Bothant) was still so confused that his communication
could not be of any appreciable assistance. Anyway, the
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Brother had given the Jesuits at Agra a broad hint which
might help in sorting things out.

More precise, however, was the information already
received at the headquarters of the ecclesiastical authorities.
At the beginning of 1603, a mysterious gentleman who
called himself Mr. Diogo D’Almeida, a Portuguese by birth,
knocked at the Archbishop’s door in Goa. He introduced
himself as a trader coming from Northern India. For two
years he had been in Thibete on business. The object of
his call was to say that Cathay was not the same as Thibete.
They were in fact two different regions wide apart, under
different rulers and inhabited by people who differed in
colour, race and creed. The informant went on to explain
that the Christians heard of by the Fathers at the court of
Akbar were to be found in large numbers in the kingdom of
Thibete and not in the territory of Cathay as wrongly
reported by Mohammedan travellers. In Thibete there
were many churches, richly adorned with images of Our
Lord, Our Lady and the Apostles. The priests observed
celibacy, wore a long soutane and were in all respects
similar to the Catholic Clergy, except that they shaved
their head clean. The name of the Bishop was Lamhao
(Lama). He lived like a hermit in an isolated place, was
venerated by all as a saint and led a most austere life
of penance. On the principal feasts of the year, he left his

hermitage to go over to the episcopal see to hold divine
services.

Diogo D’Almeida was so sure that there were Christians
in Tibet that he was even ready to take an oath to
corroborate his statement. He added further that his
information was voluntary and disinterested. In giving it
he was motivated solely by the glory of the Church and the
welfare of numberless souls, who, inexperienced as he was
in ecclesiastical matters, might be like sheep outside the
true fold of Christ.

The adventurous traveller went a step further; he volun-
teered to give a description of the way leading to Thibete—
a thing which proved to be remarkably correct. Thibete,
he said, is beyond the kingdom of Guiscumir (Kashmir)
recently conquered (1587) by the Moghul armies. Between
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the two kingdoms, he said, were high mountain ranges...
dark deep forests...passes could be crossed only during
certain times of the year...the road was more difficult than
long. The Zoji-La (the 3,529 meter pass which then marked
the boundaries between Kashmir and Ladakh) though not
specifically mentioned, was alluded to in uncertain terms.

Acting upon this information, a Jesuit from Agra, whose
name has not come down to us, made an abortive attempt
to get into Thibete via Kashmir. We know nothing about
this expedition except that the dizzy heights and the deep
snow on the ground proved unsurmountable barriers for the
zealous missionary.

The grey dawn started flickering at last over Tibet like
a sign-post pointing to a new direction. It was now evident
that if there was any hope of discovering any Christian
nuclei in Central Asia, one had to traverse new ground. Bro.
de Goes’ expedition had obviously followed a mistaken
track; the solitary pioneer who ventured to getinto that
unknown and isolated land via Kashmir might have been on
the right path, but was mercilessly beaten back by the
overpowering forces of Nature. The conclusion was clear,
a different route of approach must now be struck.

In 1625 resounding and sensational news swept over
Europe like wild fire. It was something akin to the discovery
of America by Christopher Colombus. At long last, the
great Cathayo (the dream country of the remote east,
idealised by the travellers of the thirteenth and fourteenth
centuries, but afterwards lost sight of) had been discovered
and identified. A lengthy report on ‘*Novo descobrimento
do Gram Cathayo ou Reinos de Tibet etc.” (New Discovery
of the Great Cathayo or Kingdoms of .Tibet etc.) was first
published ih Lisbon in 1626. It was translated in quick
succession in nearly all European languages and for a decade
figured as the best-seller in the market.

The title was a misnomer, but it stuck to the book as a
souvenir of a bygone age. Though it had already been
established beyond any doubt that the country referred to
as Cathay by travellers in the Middle Ages, was actually
China, yet, inspite of it, they continued, in the mistaken
fashion of the day, to give the name of Cathayo to the
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territory which is now known as Tibet. For such at least
was the common supposition of the time.

The man behind this feat—the first European we know
for certain to enter Tibetan territory—was Fr. Antonio
Andrade S.J. or Andreade as it is at times spelt. Born in
Portugal in 1580 he had entered the Society of Jesus at the
age of 16 and come out to India when he was 20 years old.
After a brilliant academic career at Goa he was sent as
Superior to the Moghul Mission in 1621. Here Fr. Andrade
conceived the idea of going and discovering the ancient
Christian churches and states which were rumoured to exist
in Cathayo.

A good opportunity came his way. In Delhi, where he
had gone to accompany Jehangir, Fr. Andrade came to
know that a pilgrim caravan was to leave shortly for a
famous pilgrim centre—one and a half month’s travel to
the north east—to a place reported to be inhabited by a
Christian population. This, he thought, might be a good
chance to find them and to discover the right route to get
into the kingdom of Cathayo. This was quite a new road,
not yet explored by any missionary, and the attempt might
be crowned with success.

Accordingly, on 30th March, 1624, Fr. Andrade and Bro.
Manoel Marques, accompanied by three young native
Christians, left Agra to join the pilgrim caravan. The
pilgrims were going to Bardinara (Badrinath), a famous
Hindu shrine, passing through Serinangar (Srinagar), the
old Garhwal capital, following the roaring Alaknanda—the
noisy, turbulent river that further down its course, flows
into the Ganges.

““We then began’’, writes Fr. Andrade in his accout, ‘“‘to
climb those lofty mountains (the first approaches to the
Himalayan ranges) the like of which perhaps are not to be
seen on the face of the globe. In some places the passage
was so narrow that we could only just put one foot before
the other...clinging on to the rocks with our hands, and at a
single false step we could have been dashed to pieces. Some
of these rocks stand upright as if they had been formed with
a plumb line. Deep down the valley the Ganges flows
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amidst boulders and cascades, making a frightful uproar.
This, enhanced by the echoes, still further increases the alarm
felt by the travellers across these narrow paths. The
ascent is difficult enough, but the descentis worse for one
knows not what to cling on to. We were several times
obliged to turn round and go backwards as if we had been
going down a ladder’".

The pilgrims usually proceed in single file, one after the
other, for the footpath would seldom permit two going
abreast. When the one heading the column perceived any
danger he encouraged the others by chanting in a loud
voice the name of the shrine they were going to visit, and
the name was repeated successively by each traveller from
the first down to the last.

From Badrinath onwards the little party had to forge
ahead alone, depending solely on their own initiative and
resourcefulness. They struggled on amidst difficulties of
every kind. Their feet were swollen and numbed ;
mountain sickness made itself felt ; the reflection of the
sun in a sea of dazzling white rendered the wayfarers
snow-blind. For 25 days Fr. Andrade could not read or
make out a single letter of the breviary, though due pre-
caution had been taken against this affliction.

Having crossed the Mana (5,450 meters) and the Churang
passes, the travellers descended towards the basin of the
Sutlej, in western Tibet. They found themselves in the
province of Guge, the territory of the king whose capital
lay at Tsaparang (rTsa-bran), in the river gorge, three
marches away. Tsaparang, now in a heap ruins, was then
a place of importance, half a day’s march to the north west
of Toling (mTho-glin), an ancient religious centre still
marked on maps.

The appearance of the small caravan in the capital of
Guge excited the liveliest interest. Earlier, according to
custom, a courier had been sent ahead to announce their
coming. In order that the party might make a solemn
entrance, the King had despatched two messengers with
three horses to meet them. On arrival all the town turned
out and the queen herself watched the proceedings from the

balcony.
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At first the king took the strange visitors to be merchants
who had brought him some valuable presents. When told
such was not the case, his interest in them flagged and put
off for two or three days the granting of an audience. Once
admitted into his presence, however, they were received
most kindly and entertained to a long familiar conversation.
Speaking by means of an interpreter, the missionary stated
that he had undertaken such a perilous journey to find
out personally whether His Excellency and his subjects
were by any chance Christians as reported in some quarters.
If so, he had come to explain once more the principles of
true Christianity and to destroy the superstitions that might
have grown up in their stead. The King appeared to be
puzzled a bit as he was acquainted little with the subject
of the conversation. The queen who had been listening
from behind a curtain, was greatly interested and sent word
to say that she wanted to see the strange visitors and talk
to them. Her request was immediately granted.

Things went on very smoothly. Fr. Andrade succeeded
in gaining the sympathy and good will of the people and of
the authoritics. Whenever he desired, he could present
himself at court, sure to be received in a friendly manner.
He also had a good amount of provision sent to him daily—
rice, mutton, flour and wine.

Time was running out. The fear of finding the road
snow-bound during the winter and the promise Fr. Andrade
had given to Jehangir to return quickly, brought the visit
to an early end. Having arrived in the month of August,
1624, the two pioneers were once again heading for the
Moghul territory after a sojourn of twenty five days in the
capital of Guge. But before leaving His Majesty tried to
persuade the leader of the expedition to remain and would
only consent to his going on condition that he took an
oath to return the following year. Fr. Andrade, who by
now was convinced that though no Christians could be
found in the Kingdom of Guge, the court and the people
were very favourably disposed to receive the message of the
Gospel, so he readily complied with the King’s request.

Taking advantage of the favourable situation, the
missionary contrived to have the best of the bargain. He
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drew up a written document to which the King of Potente
(Tibet) gave his approval. According to this document the
Father was given full and complete freedom to teach the Holy
law to the people, he was not to be molested in the exercise
of his ministerial duties, no heed was to be paid to objections
that might be raised against this good work by interested
parties and a plot of ground was to be set aside whereon
to build a house of prayer. The document concluded with
an appeal to the Provincial at Goa to send again the said
Fr. Andrade to the Kingdom of Guge that he might start
instruction and teach its people the true law of God.

Fr. Andrade also mentioned that the king gave him a
letter in which he ordered the Kashmiri merchants residing
in Agra and Lahore and trading with the territory of Guge
to carry the Father’s luggage as if it were his own and to
render all possible assistance.

As a token of gratitude for all the kindness and the
favours received, the Jesuit Missionary presented the king
and members of his household with some religious articles,
amongst which figured a fine reproduction of the Blessed
Virgin Mary and the Infant Jesus in copper. The parting
was moving—a clear indication of the first successful con-
tact between two contrasting faiths and two opposite
worlds which still refused to meet.

Early in November, 1624, Fr. Andrade and his party
were back in Agra. There he busied himself in drafting
an account of the journey, the discovery of the Gram
Cathayo, and in making preparations for the next expedi-
tion.

In the summer of 1625, Fr. Andrade and a new Jesuit
priest, Fr. Gonzalves de Souza were again back in Guge to
be welcomed by the King. Prospects for the future seemed
good and a missionary station was also established at Rudok
(Ru-t’-ogs). Soon after the man who had affixed the cross
atop the roof of the world had to leave the field of his
labour to take up his appointment as Provincial of Goa.
Some new Fathers arrived to reinforce the mission staff,
and several conversions were made.

The initial success of Fr. Andrade, however, did not last
long. It was like the blossoming of a flower soon destined
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to wither away and die under inclement weather. The king
was caught up in a feudal war, blockaded in his citadel and
forced to capitulate. Guge was then annexed to the king-
dom of Ladhak. The new masters were not personally
hostile to the Jesuits, but without the royal patronage the
missionaries were powerless, their prospective converts fell
away, till finally the missionaries were expelled in 1635.

Frs. Cacella and Cabral

In his apostolic zeal to spread the Kingdom of God, Fr.
Andrade did not miss any opportunity to see if the mission
field at Cathayo could be extended. At Tsaparang he had
collected information about another extensive territory to
the east of the Kingdom of Guge caled U Tsang. Prompted
by the idea of establishing a chain of missionary stations
within a close range, and thus consolidating the concerted
efforts, he wrote to the Provincial at Malabar suggesting to
him to send some Fathers to U Tsang. Earlier there had
been persistent reports that one of the passages to Cathayo
was through Bengal. Presuming there were no Christians
in the U Tsang province—a thing not yet fully ascertained—
there was surely the possibility of finding people who would
lend a willing ear to the Christian message. Why not then
take the chance ?

Since 1610, the original religious province of the Jesuits
in India had been split up into two—the Goa Province and
the Malabar Proyince with its headquarters at Cochin.
Bengal was then under the territorial jurisdiction of the
Malabar Province. That is why Fr. Andrade had addressed
himself to the Provincial of Malabar to move in the matter.

Hughli, on the bay of Bengal, which was already function-
ing as a mission outpost, was chosen as the base for this
new enterprise. Frs. Stephen Cacella, aged 41, John
Cabral aged 27 and Bro. Bartholomew Fontebona now in
his fifties, sailed from Cochin on 15th March, 1626, in the
direction of Hughli. The two fathers were Portuguese, while
the Brother was an Italian from Florence.

At Hughli they learnt that the road to Catai was an easy
one, well trodden by travellers, where they could also find
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numerous brethren in the faith. The reality was to be
otherwise. Cheered by the good news, the party moved
out from Hughli on 2nd August, 1626, for U Tsang in central
Tibet. It was to be one of the greatest adventures in the
history of exploration. As a matter of fact, they were the
first Europeans to set foot upon the virgin soil of four
different territorial regions Bhutan, Sikkim, Central Tibet,
and the kingdom of Nepal.

Many were the problems they had to grapple with ; for
one thing, the Fathers were not familiar with the language
and the topography of the place. Fr. Simon de Figueiredo,
who had been residing in Bengal for quite some time, offered
his services and the four of them set out disguised as Portu-
guese soldiers. Somewhere between Hughli and Dacca they
had to stop. Owing to various handicaps, Fr. Cacella and
de Figueiredo went ahead to pave the way; Fr. Cabral
stayed on while the Brother returned to the base, where he
would wait for an all clear signal to join and proceed with
the others. The poor Brother arrived at Hughli broken in
health and soon after died on the 26th of December, 1626.

At Dacca Fr. Cacella and his companion were made
prisoners. Set free after twelve days, they sent for Fr.
Cabral. On S5th September, Frs. Cacella and Cabral, now
left to their own device, pushed on to Hajo in Assam. On
enquiring about the road to Catai, all seemed puzzled as no
one had ever heard of the place. Only a Mohammedan came
forward to say that the country lay sbeyond the city of
Cascar (Kashgar), the gateway to the Kingdom of Catai.
He did not know, however, how to get there. If the travel-
lers could only cross the mountain passes leading into

Potente (Tibet) then it would not be difficult for them to find
their way about.

The ruler of Kuch Behar happened to be at Hajo at the
time. He was pleased to give the two Fathers a letter of
recommendation to his son, who was a governor in a state,
and advised them to go through the town of Rangamati in
order to get into Potente. Once in Rangamati, the mis-
sionaries were told not to proceed any further. Winter was
closing in, and the mountain trail, at that time of the year,

28



was impassable. Quietly they fell back on Kuch Behar, the
capital of the homonymous state, and settled there for the
duration of the cold season.

The insalubrity of the place affected the travellers and both
of them fell ill. All the information that they could gather
was that Catai and Tibet were unknown regions. Tsaparang
also, the royal city where Fr. Andrade had already initiated
his work, was like a geographical name, off the map, un-
familiar and ignored. However, all knew of a vast country
inhabitated by a race of hillmen called Bhotias. As already
hinted at, the Tibetan territory was given different names
according to the line of approach. Bhot, or more correctly
Bod, was the common appellation used by the local people.
to indicate this country. The confusion of names and
places did not upset the missionaries. As a consolation they
were told that in Bhutan they could easily find a guide who
could direct them in the course of their journey.

The end of February, 1627, saw Frs. Cacella and Cabral
stepping into the Bhutan borders and then on to Paro, its
capital. Everywhere they were welcomed. Dharma Raja,
the Bhutan ruler, went so far as to entertain them as his
guests of honour. His solicitude was so embarassing that the
Fathers felt that they were being kept under surveillance.
They had been received with marks of distinction. The
ruler seemed to understand and appreciate the motive of
their mission, i.e. the preaching of the law of Lord Jesus
Christ, a law which, according to tradition, was already
known to his people. A lama was appointed as their langu-
age teacher. Really, it was too good to be true. LEven the
little missionary work, which had already b=en started.
promised well. But they had not come to stay.

Months had already passed staying in the capital waiting
for an opportunity to be up and again on the move. Finally.
one day at the court, Fr. Cacella met a lama who was very
friendly with the king of U Tsang. He took him into
confidence and spoke about his plan. The lama proved
co-operative ; provided the missionary with supplies. an
escort and means of conveyance and secretly sent him off
to Shigatse (gZis-ka-rtse), the royal city of U Tsang. Fr.
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Cabral soon followed suit. By January, 1628, both had
reached the goal of their long and tedious peregrination.
Fr. Andrade’s dream at long last had turned into a reality.
Tsaparang was now only 30 days from Shigatse - a comfort-
able distance in those early days.

The authorities at Cochin looked upon the undertaking
with keen interest and appointed Fr. Manoel Dias as
an additional member of the expedition. Meanwhile, Fr.
Cabral, after a short rest in the capital, returned to the base
at Hughli, leaving behind his companion. In so doing,
he was prompted by a twofold motive—to report on the
mission, which in his opinion held great promises and to
blaze a new trail i.e. to discover whether the access route
to Central Tibet was shorter and easier by making a round
through Nepal.

Fr. Cacella soon discovered that communication between
the two mission stations, Shigatse and Tsaparang, was easy.
Lamas and travellers moved both ways in a regular routine.
He also made an attempt to pay a visit to his confreres at
Guge, but the rough going and the untimely season frust-
rated his plans. Solitude and poor state of health made
him decide to come down to Hughli via Nepal. It was
already well over a year that he had been there all alone.
No news about his companion had been received. On the
other hand, no programme for the future could be drawn
up unless a more concrete plan of operation had been
mutually agreed upon. In the spring of 1629, therefore
Fr. Cacella left the 3600 meter altitude of Shigatse for the
Indian plains.

On arrival at Hughli Fr. Cacella learnt, to his great regret,
that the two other missionaries, Fr. Cabral and Dias,—had
already left for Kuch Behar. It was their intention to go
back to Shigatse, via Nepal. This would have been a much
shorter and easier route, but the crossing of the tarai at
this season was like walking into a death trap. On hearing
that his two companions were on their way to U Tsang,

Fr. Cacella, though already a spent force, started off to join
them.

In September, 1629, Fr. Cacella and Dias decided to
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travel light and continue the journey. Fr. Cabral remained
al Kuch Behar with the heavy luggage. He was to be sent
for later in January, 1630. It was an ill-conceived plan - the
fatigue and hardship of travelling was more than they
could stand. Fr. Dias died an untimely death at Morang
(east Nepal) on 3rd November, 1629, and Fr. Cacella went
to his eternal reward at Shigatse on 6th March, 1630,
hardly a week after his arrival in the capital. His mortal
remains were interred with all the honours due to a lama
who had died in the odour of sanctity. He was the first
Catholic Missionary to die on Tibetan soil.

At Kuch Behar Fr. Cabral waited for the whole year
(1630) without receiving any news and anxiously expecting
the King’s messengers to come and take him to Shigatse.
They did not come, and it was only in May 1631 that the
Father could step into the capital. However, the death
knell of Mission had struck. The new Provincial at Cochin,
who was not much in favour of this risky mission, realising
that the undertaking claimed more in men and money than
he could afford, called it off and ordered Fr. Cabral back
to Bengal.

In spite of the reverses at Guge and U Tsang, the agonising
fight to conquer Tibet to the Cross still went on at all
strategic points with varying fortunes, but never with
success. For a time (about four years) a band of Jesuits
had been posted to Srinagar, the old capital of Garhwal, a
tributary state to the Moghuls, waiting for an opportunity
to re-enter Tsaparang, in the kingdom of Guge—an opport-
unity that never came. In the summer of 1640, Fr.
Stanislaus Malpichi, an Italian, accompanied by Bro.
Marques, the old companion of Fr. Andrade, sallied forth
from Srinagar to try his luck. At the Mana Pass, the
frontier post. they were caught and thrown into prison, but
they managed to escape. Apparently, such an action was
justified on the ground that some years previously the
missionaries had gone away from Tibet without taking leave
and without paying the tribute which would have entitled
them to leave the country. Bro. Marques, now 46 years
old, already enfeebled by fatigue and privation, was recap-
tured to die as an hostage at the hands of the very people
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whom he had endeavoured to befriend. Fr. Malpichi
returned to Srinagar to convey the sad news that the last
bid to penetrate Tibet had hopelessly failed.

By the middle of the seventeenth century it wat generally
felt that the hour of Tibet had not yet come. The price to
be paid for its conversion was still too high to be worth the
bargain,

Just Passing Through

In March, 1662, two Jesuit Priests, Fr. John Grueber and
Albert D’Orville, straggled on into Agra. Fr. D’Orville
belonged to an old Brussels family, still young, but worn
out to the grey hedge of exhaustion, passed away within a
few days—8th April, 1662. His compagnon de vogage,
born in Austria 38 years earlier, trekked on to Rome to
report to his Superiors. In less than one year they had
come by land from Peking to India. Theirs was not an
apostolic excursion but a fact-finding mission. Typhoons
and Du.ch warships bent on piracy rendered communica-
tions with the South China Sea extremely difficult. It was
thought essential to keep the China Mission going to explore
the possibility of a land route and see whether it was any
safer. The arduous task had been entrusted to Frs. Grueber
and D’Orville.

The bold and daring venture together with Fr. Grueber’s
own observation on Tibet make it worth passing mention.

Starting from Peking on 13th April, 1661, the pair took
the traditional caravan track to the south-west. Details are
scanty. Sining and Koko-nor are given as the main land-
marks of this extraordinary feat of endurance. After six
months’ continuous travel, on 8th October, to be exact,
they arrived at Lhasa, the first Europeans to visit the Tibetan
capital. Both were naturally anxious to see the Dalai
Lama, but they could not be introduced to him as they had
made known before hand their unwillingness to make any
prostrations in his presence.

It is a pity that Fr. Grueber did not publish his diary,
though he had been working on it for many years. From
the little we have, he proved to be competent, accurate and
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a most conscientious observer. Fr. A. Kircher S. J.. how-
ever, In his ‘‘China Monumentis......... illustrata’>, Rome
1667, made good use of whatever material he could gather
directly from his confrere, thus introducing a radical
change into contemporary cartography. It may be noted
here that Fr. Grueber had served for a time at the Imperial
Observatory of Peking.

Quitting Lhasa after a sojourn of nearly two months, the
pair of travellers turned to the south west making for Kuti
and the valley of Nepal, then on to Agra. The route traced
by them was never put into service, but it was not forgotten
as we shall see later. More important, however, was the
valuable contribution made by Grueber to the study of the
physical map of China and Tibet.

So much by way of Introduction to the history of the
“Tibetan Mission’’.
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book written by a lama of old that ‘‘a very good and
beautiful law’>’ had been promulgated in Tibet in
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CHAPTER 11

THE FIRST TWO EXPEDITIONS

All thought and activity to re-organise the mission in
Tibet had now been abandoned. The idea, at least for the
time being, had been shelved as premature. The hazards
and commitments involved in the enterprise were such as to
deter the stoutest heart. There was more useful work at
hand to be done and with better hope of success without
embarking on a risky venture of a dubious nature. Such
was the conclusion the Jesuits in Northern India had arrived
at after the sad experience of the last few decades. Besides,
the much heard of dispersed Christian communities receded
daily from the realm of reality to become more of a distant
and hazy vision in the domain of fiction.

Down in Surat, on the western Indian coast, (where the
Tapti river flows into the Gulf of Cambay, an inlet of the
Arabian Sea), a French Capuchin missionary was busy at his
desk, collecting data and thinking over quite a few problems
which of late had come to agitate his mind and the minds of
his confreres. His name was Fr. Francis Mary of Tours—a
middle-aged man, a scholar with a keen sense of observation
and a determined will to see things through ; a little over-
bearing, perhaps, and touchy in the typical French fashion,
but still a man with a vision and a message. He had been
in India for the past twenty years, dividing his time between
Pondicherry and Surat. Languages and current ecclesiastical
affairs appealed to him ; he has left us a disquisition on the
Malabar Rites which was published in Liege in 1704 and a
“Thesaurus Linguae Indianae’’ (a grammar cum dictionary
in four languages) which he hoped to have printed at the
expense of the Sacred Congregation of Propaganda.

From Syria, where they had made a start in 1625, the
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French Capuchins of the Tours Province had set up a net
work of missionary stations which ran all along the Middle
East till eventually it reached the Western Indian shores.
Their first foundation in India was Surat in 1639 ; from
there they branched off to Madras and Pondicherry. It was
a young and fast growing religious province imbued with a
particular zcal for the missions. Its members had already
cstablished themselves in Africa and Asia but they were still
looking far afield for a more distant and larger sphere of
activity.  From Surat the missionaries cast their eyes on to
the neighbouring territories of Gujarat and Sind and only
wished that these also could be entrusted to them. To the
south west and south east of Surat, in the Deccan, lay the
former kingdom of Bijapur and Golconda, recently con-
quered by the Moghul army. It was tempting to go there
and try their hands at the plough. Greater possibilities of
evangelisation might be awaiting the labourers of the vine-
yard in an area scarcely touched by the hands of the morn-
ing sowers. Why not then make a bid, while the going was
good, to take over this new field of apostolate ?

Those early pioneers were indeed ambitious and
courageous. One would expect them to dig in and consoli-
date the work already started rather than keep on forever
expanding and enlarging at a quick alarming pace. Not
satisfied with the common toil and daily task assigned to
them, they dreamt of a richer harvest in a far off land, far
across the mountains, in a region hardly known, but said to
be full of Christians. They dreamt of it day and night and
the dream soon started having the magnetic power of an
obsession. They must go there.

The commanding position Surat occupied those days
made it the favourite venue of all gossips and rumours
which, like a stock in trade, circulated between the Middle
East and the Moghul empire and far beyond Surat was then
one of the most important cities in India, with a good
harbour and large business centre, the rendezvous of travel-
lers and merchants who carried on an extensive trade
between east and west. Unware of the sad experience of
the Jesuits at the court of the Moghuls, Fr. Francis Mary
and his companions listened with willing ear to the same old
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stories and slowly came to the same conclusion (1) : That
there were communities of Christians in Tibet ; that thirty
three million people—an erroneous but stereotyped figure of
its inhabitants—were hungering for the Bread of Life ; that
they had no one to attend to their spiritual needs ; that far
too many reports from different sources made one suspect
that the information might not be correct ; and that an
attempt must be made to reach these abandoned Christians

to minister to them, no matter how heavy the price
might be.

All had been put down on paper by Fr. Francis Mary,
the most ardent champion of the cause. His notes were
punctuated by a personal touch of enthusiasm and fervent
zeal for the welfare of those far-off separated brethren.
Meanwhile, over the years, an unpleasant situation had been
developing in Surat. Though the mission there was outside
the Padroado influence, but now and again, serious juris-
dictional troubles were taking place. The Portuguese Jesuits
were determined to hand over the station to the Goa
Archbishop. Fr. James of Bourges, the Custos Missionis,
as he was called, was worried. To prevent complications he
commissioned Fr. Francis Mary to go to Rome and petition

1. In a letter written from Leh, the capital of Ladhak, on the 5th of
August, 1715, while on his way to Lhasa, Fr. H. Desideri S. J.
(Nuovo Ramusio, part V, p. 31-32) stated that it was rumoured
that 10-12 years earlier the king of the Third Tibet had sent
messengers to the Moghul territories in search of the Fathers
of the Society of Jesus. Fr. Andrade had left there a cassok, a
biretta and some personal effects and the king was anxious to get
in touch with some of the Fathers of the Society. Not knowing
where to go or where to look for the Jesuits, the messengers
strayed on to Surat. The Capuchins kept the things secret and
at the right moment acted upon the information and went to
Tibet. Earlier (1706) another Jesuit, Fr. Francis Borgia Koch,
had communicated the same story to his superiors. However,
two hundred vears later, another Jesuit, Fr. H. Hosten, proved
the rumour baseless (Letters and other papers of Fr. Ippolito
Desideri S. J. in the Journal of the Asiatic Society of Bengal
1938). There is no doubt that the Jesuits and the Capuchins
acted independently in regard to their expeditions to Tibet. Both
had been taken in by rumours spread by the ubiquitous Armenian
and Mohammedan merchants.
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the Holy See to confirm the station of Surat as a Capuchin
preserve, free and independent of any interference of the
Padroado authorities. This would give him the chance to
expound his other schemes and plans, which though not
officially sponsored by the Superiors of the Order, never-
theless met with their approval and had the backing of the
other missionaries as well.

With his notes safely tucked in his scanty baggage and
the pilgrim’s staff in his hand, Fr. Francis Mary bid good-
bye to his co-workers at Surat in 1701 and set off for Europe.
First he visited his homeland, his relations and friends and
then hurried on to Rome to enlist support for the cause he
had spoused. The notes were finalised and condensed in a
Memorandum which was sent in with a wishful prayer.

Decree of Propaganda

At the special session of the Congregation of Propaganda,
held on 14th March, 1703, to deal with the affairs of the
Mission in India and China, the French Capuchin was
called in to be present at the discussion over the Memoran-
dum he had submitted (2). The Memorandum was short and
dealt exclusively with the erection of the three missions
mentioned above. In regard to the other two points for
which Fr. Francis Mary had come to Rome, i.e. to confirm
the mission at Surat as belonging to the Capuchins and to
request the Congregation of Propaganda to print his
“Thesaurus Linguae Indianae”’, it will suffice to say here that
the former was readily granted while the latter kindly turned
down. As a matter of fact the Congregation of Propaganda
had already issued a Decree in April, 1698 to the effect that
Surat was to be a Capuchin mission, but there had been some
delay in the delivery or the execution of the document (3).
The manuscript ‘“Thesaurus Linguae Indianae’” which was
left in the Archives of Propaganda is now not traceable.

2. Arch. Prop. Fide, Scritture Congregazione Particolare del 14
Marzo, 1703, Vol 2, f. 37.

3. The controversy is dealt at length in ‘““Essays on the Capuchin
Missions in India”, by Fr. Felix Finck, O. F. M, Cap. published
in the Franciscan Annals of India, Agra 1910-1912,
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Having dealt with the two missionary fields to be opened
in India, the Memorandum referred to Tibet in these terms—
“The third mission will be in the interior part of Bengal,
turning towards the sources of the Ganges then gradually
stepping into Thibet, which so far has not yet been penet-
rated. “‘I have heard”’, so writes Fr. Francis Mary, ‘‘that in
Thibet there are people who in times past were Christians,
but now due to the absence of priests they do not know to
what religion they belong; neither are they heathens; they
are very hostile to the Mohammedans and when by chance
Armenian Christian merchants pass through the country
they are received most cordially. 1 have read about the
people of Thibet in books and the same thing I have heard
from the Mohammedans, the heathens, and the Armenians.
It is over three years that willingly and without difficulty I
would have gone there, if only I had a companion.” (4)

From a reading of this passage it is clear that Fr. Francis
Mary was unaware of the attempts made earlier by
Fr. Andrade, Frs. Cacella and Cabral, or else makes a
reference to that portion of Tibet which had not yet been
visited by any missionary. It was by then becoming a
common practice to sub-divide the country into three
different regions and call them the first, second and third or
proper Tibet. Later on, another appellation was added
which made a distinction between the lower and upper
Tibet, i.e. Nepal and the high Tibetan plateau.

The Memorandum then goes on to give a rough sketch of
the possible route to Tibet. Here the document is very
sketchy of the possible route to Tibet. Here the document
is very sketchy and vague. One way to Tibet, it says, is
from Surat to Agra; but then it does not give any further
indication as to the course to be followed beyond the city of
Akbar. Another line of access is through the Bay of Bengal.
Here, at the mouth of the Ganges, France held an important
trading post (Chandernagore). It would not have been
difficult for the Capuchins (read French Capuchins) to get
far inland through the good offices of the French Trading

Company.

4. Arch. Prbp. Fide. Scritture riferite nei Congressi per le Indie ¢ la
Cina, Vol. 8 (1701-4), f. 534 a.
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Two more points emerge, more or less clear, from a perusal
of the document. The first, in order (o put the mission on a
solid basis, it would be necessary to enlist the moral support
of a Catholic nation. Portugal and France were the only
two Catholic countries which had established trading centres
in India. Portugal in some respects was better deserving of
the Catholic Faith than France, but the Padroado business
scared Fr. Francis Mary out of his wits. It is not surprising
then that as a good Frenchman he suggested to put the whole
undertaking under the patronage of the French East India
Company.

The second point was to guard against any possible
criticism and to put the mission on a solid fruitful basis by
looking at it not as an end in itself but in the larger context
of the propagation of the faith in India and China. It was
obvious that many would object to the erection of a
mission in Tibet on account of the enormous distance,
extending over new and unknown territories, which might
stand as a formidable obstacle in the achievement of the
goal. But once there, it might be easy to open up a land
route linking the Middle East with China via Tibet. This
would help the preachers of the Gospel to have easier access
to the eastern world.

At the end of the session the devoted missionary could
consider himself satisfied, if not pleased. He had to
acknowledge that most of his schemes had fallen through,
such as his failure to secure for the Capuchins the mission
territories of Gujarat and Sind, of Bijapur and Golconda.
Nevertheless, he succeeded with the Propaganda authorities
in making them accept the plan he thought most important—
the opening of a mission in Tibet. His arguments in this
regard were found both persuasive and compelling. But
even here, Fr. Francis Mary had to admit partial defeat.
He hoped and pleaded that the new mission field should be
entrusted to the Fathers of the Tours Province. Propaganda,
however, held different views. The Province was already
overburdened with other commitments and to add to its
apostolic work would mean a mere dissipation of energies.

On the same day, a Decree was issued whereby the Con-
gregation of Propaganda decided upon the opening of a
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Mission in Tibet, but entrusted it to the Italian Capuchins.
The territorial limits of this new ecclesiastical unit were
rather vaguely described as little was known of the places
to which the Italian Capuchins were being sent. The
Decree stated that the new mission was to extend—'‘In the
direction of the sources of the Ganges River, towards the
kingdom of Tibet, or in a more suitable locality’’ (5). There
was evidently another reason which made the drawing up
of the Decree to be rather cautious. No one then knew
whether the missionaries could ever enter Tibet. Unfore-
seen circumstances, as, for instance, the difficult terrain and
hazards of the road, the hostile attitude of Tibetans to
foreigners and other similar causes, might turn them back
and hinder the opening of the new mission. In this even-
tuality, the Italian Capuchins would still have a territory
wherein to settle down. Broadly speaking, if the Tibetan
enterprise failed, they could establish a mission on the left
bank of the Ganges, in an area not yet officially occupied by
members of any other missionary society.

The Secretary of Propaganda was directed to take up the
matter with the Procurator General of the Capuchin Order,
Fr. Bernardine of Soluzzo, on whom de jure develoved the
responsibility of making all internal arrangements, such as
choosing the Province which would undertake to supply the
personnel, presenting the candidates to Propaganda for
their approval and other similar technicalities. On 28th
January, 1907, the Congregation approved the following
missionaries whose names were proposed by the Procura-
tor :—Fr. John Francis of Camerino, Prefect, Frs. Felix of
Montecchio, Joseph of Ascoli and Joseph Mary of Fossom-
brone, missionaries, Fr.

5. Arch. Prop. Fide. Atti delle Congregazione particolari per la Cina
e le Indie Orientali, Vol. 2, a. 1701-17, Congr. del 14 Marzo 1703,
ff. 37 b-38 a.

The Decree reads—‘‘Item agendum cum Procuratore Generali
Capuccinorum pro erectione novae Missionis Capuccinorum
italorum ad oram Gangis versus regna Tibet, seu in alio loco
opportuniori’.
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Francis Mary of Tours, “Director’’ and Bro. Fiacre of Paris,
companion (6).

The bulk of the evangelical labourers was drawn up from
the religious Province of Piceno, in the belt of the Marche
D’Ancona, to which the mission had been actually com-

mitted. Fr. Francis Mary of Tours, the heart and soul
behind the enterprise, was added to the personnel to act as

“Director’” or leader of the expedition., His long years of
service in the Foreign Missions, his knowledge of the langu-
age and his experience in the mode of travelling were thought
to be sufficient to render him fit for this role. Unfortunately,
he proved himself unequal to the task. Once he had ful-
filled his assignment which was to lead the Fathers to Lhasa,
he could either have gone back to Surat or cast his lot with
the Italian Capuchins. But so great was his love for the new
mission that he opted to join forces with them (7) and
remain there.

The Italian recruits were all hand-picked and formed a
well-assorted band of workers. Their age group ranged bet-
ween 30 and 35 years. They were still young and perhaps a
little visionary, but eager to shoulder the burden and face
the toil and hardship their apostolic mission would entail.
Some of them were holding responsible posts and had given
unmistakable signs of being endowed with those qualities of
heart and mind that are a sure guarantee for the success of
any great enterprise.

All hope for the success of the mission was based on these
stalwart soldiers of Christ ; they knew it and were determin-
ed to live up to their trust. Gazing confidently into the
future, they pledged their life and service to hoist the Cross
atop the roof of the world. -

6. Arch. Prop. Fide, Scritture originali riferite nella Congregazione
Generali del 21 e del 28 Gennaio 1704, Vol. 547. No. 1.

The above documents can be found together in Bullarium
Ordinis Min. Capuccinorum, Romae, Tomo VII, pp. 250-266.

7. Arch. Prop. Fide. Scritture riferite nel Congressi per le Indie e la
Cina, Vol 10, a 1707-8, ff. 481-483 ; Nuovo Ramusio part I, pp.
39-4].

42



From Rome to Lhasa

A jet flight from Rome to Lhasa would now be a matter
of hours ; we can hardly believe that the first Capuchins took
well over three solid years to cover the same distance. A
journey to Tibet was something more than an adventure ; it
was like taking a ticket in a very odd gamble. Passengers
by land or sea never knew when they would arrive at their
destination, or, for that matter, whether they would ever
reach the end of their journey. Often they went very reluc-
tantly, perhaps forced by bitter necessity knowing fully well
that they might never see their homes or families again. Our
six missionaries left the sunny shores of Italy hale and
hearty, but only two of them had the joy to greet the tower-
ing Himalayan peaks glittering in the glory of the morning
light. Let us not, however, anticipate the course of events.

Within a short time, too short indeed, for such an under-
taking, the first expedition was ready. Setting out from
Rome in April, 1704, they took a sailing vessel at Leghorn
on 6th May, bound for Alexandretta, former name of Isken-
derum (modern Turkey), at the north east extremity of the
Mediterranean. On boardship Fr. Joseph Mary of Fossom-
brone fell seriously ill and was disembarked on the island of
Cyprus. His physical condition grew so bad that he was
thought unfit to travel any further. He was left there with
orders to go back to his religious province as soon as he had
recovered (8). The list of casualties had just begun—a dark
foreboding of the things to come. Landing safely at Ale-
xandretta the party tramped on to Aleppo (Haleb, Syria)
where on the 14th July they were the welcome guests of their
French confreres of the Tours Province.

The change of climate and diet, together with the un-
accustomed caravan life over long distances, and the difficult
terrain, soon started telling on them. Bouts of malerious
fever and long spells of illness became their constant com-
panions ; Fr. Francis Mary was the only one to escape the
onslaught. The blows fell thick and fast. Bro. Fiacre of
Paris was the first victim. Exhausted by fever and fatigue
he went to his eternal reward at Diarbakir (modern Turkey)

8. Terzorio p. 187.
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on Ist October, 1704 (9). Forty days later, l0th November,
the Prefect Fr. John Francis of Camerino died, young and
brave, at Mardin (modern Turkey) ninety kilometers to the
south of Diarbakir (10). The carvan was on the move again
bound for Mosul (Iraq) when his condition worsened
suddenly. He was carried back to Mardin ; while his
companions, for fear of being left behind alone, continued
the rest of the march with the others. Fr. Felix of
Montocchio, reduced in weight and prostrated by stubborn
maleria, was held up at Mosul for three months. The
remaining two pressed forward to Basra, where on 23rd
February, 1705, they took a boat for Bander Abbas on the
Persian Gulf.

It was surely a bad start. The original team of workers
‘had already been reduced to half the size within a few
months. And that was not all : a good deal of money had
already been spent on sickness ; the first misgivings or
economic worries that the allocation received would not be
sufficient for the journey, soon started telling on their mind.
Further, national sentiments and personal interests slowly
crept into their ranks causing feelings of unpleasantness.
The leader of the expedition had resented the fact that the
dead Prefect had appointed Fr. Felix of Montecchio as
Vice Prefect, pending of course the decision of Rome, but
he made no bones about it. When the new interim superior
reached Bander Abbas, on 19th April, 1705, he found only
his Italian companion there. Fr. Francis Mary had left
his old mission just a month earlier to bring the Papal
Blessing to the Christians at Surat and to make sure that
the Decree of Propaganda, assigning the station to the
Capuchins, was duly carried into effect (11).

Alone and stranded, the two Italians were lucky enough
to secure the services of an Indian Catholic, who had
formerly been with the French Capuchins at Surat. He was

9. Terzorio p. 188.
10. Terzorio, p. 188.

11.  Arch. Prop. Fide. Scritture riferite nei Congressi per le Indie ¢ la
Cina. Vol. 9 (1705-6), ff. 58 and 64-65.
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well-acquainted with the topography and customs of the
place and spoke Portugese and French besides his mother
tongue. That was a great boon to them in their hour of
need.

Boarding an English vessel on the 20th of May. the two
missionaries dropped anchor at Madras towards the end
of June. But what a dreadful voyage it was ! The monsoon
and a serious illness vied with each other to make them
miserable. At Madras another kind of storm was raging -
the city was in the grips of an agitation over the visit of the
Papal Legate (Archbishop Charles Thomas Maillard de
Tournon, Patriarch of Antioch and Visitor General for
Ecclesiastical Affairs in the East, afterwards Cardinal while
in prison), who had condemned the Malabar Rites, causing
sharp reaction among the clergy and the local Christian
community. The British authorities in control of the area,
fearing that the presence of these two strangers might add
to the confusion, ordered them to quit at one hour’s notice.
They repaired first to nearby Mylapore in Moghul territory,
and then to Pondicherry, the French settlement on the
eastern shore. Here at last the tired travellers could rest
and recoup their shattered health under the loving care of
their French confreres (12).

Hearing that his two companions were already in Pondi-
cherry and that they were laid up in bed, Fr. Francis
Mary made haste to join them. But he too had his own
good share of uncalled for risk and adventure. Late in
November, 1705, the fragile coastal vessel on which he was
travelling weighed anchor at Surat and slipped out to sea
to circumnavigate the Indian Peninsula. From Quilon
onward, to avoid the treacherous waters of Cape Comerin,
he preferred to go on foot, leaving his luggage at Tuticorin
from where it would be forwarded by ship.

In January 1706, the three Tibetan Missionaries werc
re-united again at Pondicherry, but for a short time. The

12. The spiritual care of the Catholics at Pondicherry, from the time
the French Colonists settled there, was in the hands of the French
Capuchins, who worked also among the natives. However,
since 1599 their activities were restricted to the European
immigrants, French and Portuguese.
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two Italians had secured a passage for Chandernagore, the
French Settlement in Bengal, and left Madras on 27th
March to reach their destination on 8th April. It was a
somewhat comfortable trip. Fr. Francis Mary stayed on at
Madras waiting for the arrival of his luggage. This settled, he
started on his voyage for Bengal. At the entrance of the
Hughli, the small English craft, in which he was travelling,
foundered and he lost baggage and all, but managed to save
his life. It was only on the 2nd of August that the poor
Father was at last with his two Italian confreres, after
having wandered for nearly a month in the Sunderbans—the
marshy jungle-like tract of land (the home of the royal
Bengal tiger and other wild animals) which stretches between
the sea and the cultivated portion of the Gangetic Delta (13).

For two years now the three had been on the road and
across the sea, but the goal was still far off. These had been
years of untold sufferings under the most trying conditions
with yet a long way to go and a perilous future to face.
The most risky and uncertain stages of the journey still
lay ahead of them. They were like swimmers in a stormy
sea. As with force and skill, they clove one wave after
another, they more and more surged behind them dark and
menacing. No one could foretell if and when they would
be able to set foot on Tibet, the land of their dreams. The
real test of endurance had yet to come.

Occasionally a letter would reach Rome to keep the
authorities posted on the progress and the fortunes of the
first group of missionaries. Meanwhile, the Congregation
of Propaganda and the Superiors of the Order at Rome had
come to know of the great losses and the enormous difficul-
ties encountered by the members of the first Tibetan expedi-
tion. Two serious problems called for their immediate
attention—the appointment of a new Prefect and the need
to send reinforcement to sustain the efforts of the mission-
aries and to bring the undertakirig to a successful conclusion.
Accordingly a Decree was issued on the 13th of July, 1705,

13.  Arch. Prop. Fide, Scritture riferite nei congressi per le Indie e la
Cina, Vol. 10 (1707-8), ff. 584-589, quoting from a letter of Fr.
Francis Mary dated Patna 25th November, 1706.
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providing for the appointment of a Prefect and a Vice-
Prefect in the persons of Fr. Joseph of Ascoli and Fr. Felix
of Montecchio respectively (14). Earlier, the same year
steps were taken to replace Fr. Joseph Mary of Fossom-
brone who had been incapacitated from continuing the
journey and the two other missionaries who like brave
soldiers had fallen their march to their field of operation.
The choice fell this time on Frs. Dominic and John of Fano
of the Piceno Province and Bro. Michael Angelo of
Burgundy, a Frenchman by birth but belonging to the
Roman Province—a contingent of personnel similar in
nationality and status which had been lost in the cause of
the mission.

Warned by the members of the first batch about the
dreadful experience of an overland journey, the second
group tried to reach India by sea. They set sail from
Lorient, a port of the French East India Company to the
north-west of France, on the 14th of July, 4706, and directed
their course to Brasil, Chile, Peru and then back to the
east through the Cape of Good Hope. They landed safely
at Pondicherry on the 12th of July, 1708, exactly after two
years of navigation. Strange as it may seem, even this
roundabout course through the western hemisphere, as we
shall see in another chapter, was one of the beaten sea
routes to India. On this occasion, however, the voyage
round the western world was motivated by reasons of trade
(15).

The next lap of the voyage from Pondicherry to the
French settlements in Bengal was only a matter of days. The
two priests and the lay-brother embarked at Madras on 13th
August to see the end of their long sea-travelling at Chander-
nagore on the 7th September. There the new-comers found
the Vice Prefect waiting to give them a royal welcome and to
acquaint them with the latest developments of the mission.

The experience of six months gained at Chandernagore by
the missionaries of the first expedition, was put to good use.

14. Arch. Prop. Fide. Atti del 1705, Congr. del 13 Luglio, No. 17, f.
236.

15. Terzorio, p. 248-249.
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[t gave them an excellent opportunity to rest a while after
the strenuous journey across the Middle Last, and (o adapt
themselves to the climate and environment, to
study the language, to become acquainted with the ways of
the east and to collect necessary information to plan their
future course of action.

After the rainy season, Frs. Joseph and Felix made a bid
to get into Patna, the first stepping stone from the Indian
plains to the harsh jagged mountains of Lhasa. On the way
Fr. Felix already run down in health, fell sick and was forc-
ed to return to Chandernagore. His place was taken by Fr.
Francis Mary. By the 8th of November, 1706, both Frs.
Francis Mary and Joseph were in Patna (16) preparing for
the next move into Nepal. Fr. Felix was expected to join
them at any time now but in spite of his earnest efforts he
was prevented from doing so. Sufficiently recovered in
health the good Father hoped to be soon among his con-
freres and go up to Tibet with them. However, at Rajmahal,
half way between Chandernagore and Patna, he found it
impossible to go any further. He was forced back to the
French colony and there he waited for some improvement in
the political situation.

We have to bear in mind that a few years before his death
the Emperor Aurangzeb had gone to the south to carry on
the Deccan Wars. The northern provinces were gradually
drained of their financial and military resources. Bands of
robbers swooped down upon the rich cities of the north.
The best troops and his trusted generals were with him in
the Deccan. Those left behind were inefficient and power-
less. It was during his absence that unrest, disorganisation
and plunder started taking place in many parts of Northern
and Central India. The administration grew slack and
corrupt. The empire had become too large and unwieldy
to be ruled by one man or from one centre, (17). Communi-
cations were disrupted and highly unsafe. The crossing
from Bengal into Bihar was so dangerous that Fr. Felix
thought it prudent not to take any risk. Things worsened

16. The same as per No. 13 above.
17. A History of India by Sir George Dunbar, London 1936, p. 279.
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after the Emperor’s death in March 1707. The war of
succession among his three sons brought political affairs to
near anarchy.

The two Fathers in Patna impatient to wait any longer for
the arrival of the Vice-Prefect, and not hearing from him,
decided to move off on their own. Time was running short
and they must make the best of the good weather so long as
it lasted. Packing up their belongings, the two missionaries
again iook to the road, leaving in the hands of a gentleman
at the English Factory a letter and some noney for Fr.
Felix. In it the newly elected Prefect explained the reasons
for their hurried departure for Nepal. They told Fr. Felix
if he wished he could freely settle in Patna where a sizable
Christian community was abandoned and neglected ; gave
him some advice and recommended himself to his prayers
not knowing whether they would ever meet again.

In 35 days—from 17th January to the 2Ist of February,
1707,—Frs. Joseph and Francis Mary plodded on slowly
and steadily to Kathmandu—another step forward to the
high altar of the world. Crossing the Ganges, and the
Gandak rivers on flat bottomed river boats, kindly lent
them by some friends of the English factory, they directed
their steps to the north east. Dharbhanga, the capital of
the semi-independent state, was given as the main landmark
between Patna and the Nepal borders. Having passed over
into Nepal territory the pair followed, very likely, the
course of the Kamla river up to Sindhuli Garhi, then on
into the Sun Kosi valley, the Indrawati basin till finally they
arrived, safely but exhausted, at Kathmandu, the present
capital of Nepal.

The footpath, no doubt, was rough, but the harassment
meted out by the petty officials at the numerous check-posts
to collect transit dues was truly unbearable. It was really
a kind of legalised plunder at the expense of defenceless
passengers. And it was particularly more so at the
historical juncture where the machinery of law and order
was hardly functioning. Every day Frs. Joseph and Francis
Mary were engaged in a regular tug-of-war, and more often
than not, they found themseves on the losing side.
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The journey was an unforgettable experience and an object
lesson on the ways of the east. So muny were the obstacles
that confronted our missionaries that twice they seriously
thought of giving up the idea of the making their way into
Tibet. On one occasion the pack aninial which was carry-
ing their provisions of Mass wine ran amuck and, in its
frenzy, dashed the precious load to the ground, kicking it to
pieces. This posed a new agonising problem, i.e. either to
go ahead without the consolation of saying Mass for months
on an end or retrace their steps and replenish the stock. In
their anguish they made up their minds to proceed relying
on Divine Providence alone.

At Kathmandu the two Friars tried to conceal their
identity for fear of being subjected to the same burdensome
road duties but to no purpose. The amount expostulated
from them in order to be allowed to leave the city was so
high that, if disbursed in full, it would dangerously impair
financial position of the whole undertaking. They were
asked to pay Rs. 250/- a sum they could not dispose of
without running the risk of not having sufficient money to
complete the rest of the journey. It took nearly two months
of protracted negotiations and pleading to reduce the amount
to more reasonable proportions (18).

With a lighter purse, but heavier heart, the two of them
said good-bye to the picturesque valley of Nepal towards
the end of April, to step at last into the territory of Tibet.
Unfortunately, we have no records either of the route
followed by the two pioneers of the Gospel or of the adven-
tures which surely crossed their solitary path. The only
thing we know is that on Pentecost Sunday 12th June, 1707,
they finally saw the end of their long, nerve-racking
peregrination. Lhasa, the capital of Tibet, was now to be
their home (19).

Finding their Bearings
While in Patna, the two Fathers were lucky enough to

18 Nuovo Ramsuio, part I, pp. 5-30.

19. Bullarium Ordinis Min. Cap., Tomo VII, p. 251 ; Terzorio, p. 209 ;
Nuovo Ramusio part I, p. 34.
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get a letter of recommendation from an Armenian
merchant to a fellow countryman up in Lhasa. His name
was Khwaja Dawith—Khwaja being a Persian title and
Dawith or Dawood the Armenian equivalent for the
English name David. This gentleman had been a resident
of the Tibetan capital for the past 30 years, engaged in
profitable business. Mr. David had a large circle of friends
at all levels and wielded considerable influence. Records do
not specify whether he was a Catholic, but state that he was
a rich merchant, a man of piety and integrity, well-loved
and respected by every class of people. In his kiadness the
merchant most cordially welcomed the two missionaries and
put himself out to make them comfortable. First of all, he
managed to get for them a small three room apartment
on rent. Then as Lhasa was a small gossipy town, and the
presence of two strangers without any apparent motive to
justify it, might give rise to suspicion, he set about to regu-
larise their position before the authorities. In an audience
with the Regent, with whom he was on very familiar terms,
Mr. David told him that the two ministers of his religion
were passing through Lhasa on their way to China, but as
he was old and sick he would detain them for a time in
order to be treated by them. He casually added that they
were also members of the medical profession. In the
typical oriental fashion the Regent enquired whether the
two strangers had brought some presents, whether they
knew mathematics and astronomy or were skilled in any
other useful profession of art and craft. The Armenian
replied that the travellers were ordinary doctors without
any money or any precious ware, but that whercver they
went they threw their lot with the people of the same
profession from whom they would receive whatever they
needed. This was, of ccurse, an understatement, but it
served to give the Fathers a foothold in Lhasa and to allow
them to move about cautiously and explore the possibility
of making a start (20).

The Armenian merchant was not an isolated member of
his community; there were quite a few of them, in addition

20. Nuovo Ramusio, Part IlI, p. 29-30.
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to four Russian families and even some Chinese Christians.
This made things all the more easy. The Armenians in
particular proved very helpful. Having come to know that the
Fathers had lost their provisions of Mass-Wine, they helped
in procuring rasins—a commodity which was abundant in the
market, and soon the Fathers had a fresh supply ready.

Lhasa (Lha-ssa), the city of spirits, was the stronghold of
Tibetan Buddhism, the national religion. The city was also
known up to the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries by
its Mongolian name of Barantola (Bara’un-tala) i.e. the
region to the west. It is hemmed in by hills, bound in snow
and frost and stands on the right bank of the river Kyichu
(sKyid-c’u) which flows cold and crystal clear down from
the glaciers into the mighty Brahmaputra (son of god
Brahma) (Tibetan gTsang-po, the purifier), some eighty
kilometers to the south-west. The capital is situated at
29° 39" N. Lat. and 91° 6’ E. Long. on the parallel that runs
south of Cairo. It lies on a plateau, 3,536 meters above
sea level, under the protective shadow of the great Potala
Palace. The hills around the city are barren; the plateau,
however. is fertile, though in parts marshy. The climate is
extremely dry and cold, but wholesome, and invigorating.
Because of this and the pure mountain air, incidence of
disease is remarkably low. So holy is the sacred city of
Lhasa that no life can be taken within its precincts. The
shambles or yak-hair tents of the butchers and scavengers,
whose chief occupation is that of disposing of corpses by
cutting and exposing them to the dogs and carrion birds,
are situated outside the city limits.

In the early eighteenth century, Lhasa was a city of no
mean importance. According to our missionaries it had a
population of 80,000 inhabitants, with a high percentage of
traders, Kashmiris and Chinese being the chief contestants in
the market (21).

The two most characteristic buildings of Lhasa are the
temple of the Jo or Lord Buddha, known as Jokhang (Jo-bo-
k’an) and the grandiose Potala Palace.

21. Nuovo Ramusio, part 111, p. 10,
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The Jokhang or Lhasa Cathedral, as it is styled by western
writers, 1s the ‘‘Holy of Holies’’ of the Tibetans; the centre
from which all the main roads are considered to radiate in
every direction; the holy place where the statue of Lord
Buddha, covered with the most sumptuous jewels, awaits on
the high altar the multitudes of worshippers from every
corner of central Asia. They prostrate themselves to the
ground, touch reverently the statue and make a small
offering. This consists of tea and barley flour, all piled up
in the shape of a pyramid. A waiting monk pours lustral
water tinted with saffron, into their cupped hands; part of
which they drink and the rest they sprinkle over their heads
as a sign of internal and external blessing and purification.

Externally the Jokhang is grand and imposing; the interior,
however, is dark and heavy with strong odours from the
fumes of incense and butter lamps, which shed a flickering
gleam. Throughout the day, and particularly in the evenings
and on public holidays, the temple is swarmed with pilgrims
and worshippers who perform their ritual devotion. At
night a team of monks stands guard over the treasures and
refills the butter lamps. The main street of Lhasa runs in
a circle around the Cathedral making it the hub of city life.

The other remarkable building, dominating the skyline, is
the Potala Palace—the home of the Dalai Lama. It is one
of the most amazing examples of architecture in Asia.
Built against the slope of a low rocky hill, the Potala rises
up one hundred meters from the ground and stretches out,
from the left to the right, to a length of three hundred
meters. Inside are more than 2,000 rooms. Another
Vatican City transplanted in the mystical land of the east.

In the deep crimson section in the centre are located the
main temples, the library and the government treasury. It
is here, too, that the last remains of past Dalai Lamas are
entombed in gold-encased ““Chortens’’ or reliquary shrines.
studded with precious stones and other most valuable trea-
sures. On the western side of the palace are the quarters
for the monks who attend on the Dalai Lama and for other
high monastic dignitaries ; the eastern wing is reserved for
the private apartments of the Dalai Lama and for a school
where a rigorously selected body of monks is strictly trained
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for civil service and for their future political careers. Other
apartments comprise council and audience chambers, small
chapels, store rooms, army headquarters, office of the
district magistrate and so forth. The rooms hold countless
treasures accumulated over the centuries.

Gazing from a distance at the soaring majesty of the
Potala Palace, pilgrims go down on their knees and touch
the ground with their foreheads. They gaze in wonderment
at the celestial vision in front of them, the dream of their
whole life, the coveted goal of every true Tibetan.

The centre of attraction, of course, is not so much the
splendour of the Potala Palace as the God-King, the Dalai
Lama himself, the living Buddha, who abides within the
walls of that holy place. Lamaist doctrine teaches that every
living Dalai Lama is a transitory embodiment of the divi-
nity on earth and that at his death the indwelling divinity
passes on to his next re-incarnation (22).

When the Dalai Lama passes away {o ‘‘the heavenly
field”’, they seek his successor among the children born after
his death. They consult oracles, look for portents and
signs, birthmarks, but the final test is that the child must
be able to pick out from an array of similar articles, those
which belonged to the departed Dalai Lama. Once the
test has proved successful, all present fall upon their knees.
The enthronement ceremony follows soon after ; meanwhile
the lucky child is given all attention due to his exalted
position and is gradually brought up in the manner which
behoves his unique position.

The Dalai Lama is the temporal ruler of Tibet and the
Spiritual head of an army of monks and nuns. He rules the
country, in temporal affairs, through a mixed body of
ministers and officials, chosen from amongst the ranks of
monks and lay people. He governs the religious section of

22. Contrary to common belief, the first missionaries reported that
Dalai Lama, though immortal, is not worshipped as a god, but is
specially venerated as a man in whom the spirit of the Supreme

abides in a particular manner (Nuovo Ramusio, part I, pp. 38, 4l,
55 and elsewhere).
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his subjects through the help of the Panchen or Tashi Lama,
his deputy in all religious matters.

Within the holy city of Lhasa there are five monasteries
for men and one convent for women, of very rigid obser-
vance, all crowded with hundred of inmates. The temple
of medicine, for medicine too is part and parcel of the reli-
gious system, stands on a hill-top to the west of the city,
opposite the Potala Palace. All this made the capital a
hallowed place and a seat of learning (23).

In the vicinity of the city there are three great monasteries
of Ganden, Drepung and Sera, the three pillars of the
religious, cultural and political life of Tibet. They run their
own universities, which grant degrees in Buddhist disci-
plines and are inhabited by thousands of cowled monks (esti-
mated at 20-25,000), whose sprawling habitations cover an
area of a middle size town.

Ganden (dGa’-ldan), forty kilometers east of Lhasa, on
the left bank of the Kyichu river, is the oldest monastery ol
the Yellow Order. It claims to have been founded by
Tsong-kha-pa (1358-1419), the medieval reformer and
organiser of modern orthodox Tibetan Buddhism. The
two monasteries, Drepung and Sera, were established at a
later date by his disciples.

Drepung (’Bras-spuns) is nine kilometers to the west of
Lhasa at the foot of the hills which flank the plain on the
north. It is the greatest monastery in the world, housing
alone 10,000 monks. Lower down is the home of the
greatest mystery of Tibet, the national oracle, invariably
consulted by the government before any important decision
is taken.

Sera (Se-ra) is situated on the acclivity of the hills, five
kilometers to the north of the city, close to the “Pilgrims’
Road”, which brought pilgrims from Mangolia into the
Tibetan capital. The monastery is remarkable for its shrines
and gardens and for the multitude of stone houses, each
accommodating, in small cells, between fifty and sixty
monks.

23. Nuovo Ramusio, part 111, p. 25.
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The monasteries of Drepung and Sera are made the testing
ground of every young Dalai Lama before their officially
coming of age. There he gives proof of his maturity by
taking part in religious discussions.

It was evident that religion held a large place in the life
of the people. Tibet was rightly called the most religious
country in the world. The land was dotted with an
enormous nuinber of nionasteries and nunneries (about
3,000 of them) nestled up in the mountain side or hewed
into rocks where 10-15 per cent of the total population
retired to a life of prayer and penance (24). Candidates were
accepted at an early age, around seven or eight years. They
were placed in the charge of older monks, who tutored them
in reading, writing and the memorizing of extensive passages
from Buddhist Scriptures. Promising pupils were then put
through a course of religious studies till they graduated in
one of the theological universities. Those who failed in their
studies, either returned to secular life or were assigned
menial tasks around the monasteries. Special aptitudes
were also taken into consideration—monks, for instance,
with  artistic taste were put to work adorning
chapels, and men with the gift of healing were sent to one
of the two famous schools of medicine and so forth.

These self-contained religious communities were richly
endowed with landed property and supported as well by
generous contributions from the government treasury.
They were democratic in their internal organisation, with a
proper hierarchy and different grades of initiation, a thing
which made them resemble strikingly to the system in force
in Catholic monasteries. Almost every Tibetan family
aspired that a son would become a monk, not only for pious
reasons but also because monasticism offered the Dbest
avenue to success and influence for those who did not belong
to the nobility. At the top of the Lamaist hierarchy were
the administrators and the contemplatives—the ecclesiastico-
politicians and the saints.

24. The memorial to the King of Spain, 1738, compiled under the
inspiration of Fr. Francis Horace, reckoned that about 300,000
people were monks and nuns at the time (Nuovo Ramusio, part
111, p. 182).
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The Lamaist monastic orders were divided into two
main sects—the Red Hats and the Yellow Hats. The former
were the older and more lenient. They could marry and
live together with their wives and the children in monas-
teries. Their whole behaviour was more akin to a secular
state of life than to the religious one. The Yellow Hats
were a reformed sect, which dates back to the early
fourteenth century, when a more stringent system, enforcing
celibacy, abstinence from alcoholic drinks and rigid
obedience to discipline, was introduced. In due course
the Yellow Hats became predominant, constituting, so to
say, ‘“The Established Church’’, headed by the Dalai Lama.

The ordinary Tibetan too, dressed in his characteristic
long belted gown, was exceedingly pious. Religion was for
him the chief thought of his mind and the main aspiration
of his heart, the only preoccupation in life. Art, Literature
and music were an expression of his religious feelings, as it
used to be in the olden days in the west. Unharried by
the call of civilisation, he spent his days in earning a meagre
living, while the rest of the time was devoted to the exercise
of religion and piety. Even the most humble home had
its own chapel, or altar on which to offer the sacrifice of
prayer ; while prayer-wheels, Buddhist rosaries, sacred
images, religious symbols and banners could be seen every-
where. Lhasans and pilgrims constantly traversed the
sacred way around the temple of Lord Buddha and the
Potala Palace (eight kms. circuit) performing the ritual
circumambulation as a work of merit. Muleteers and yak
drivers on caravan routes paused at intervals to mutter
their prayers or to chant incantations. In short, the whole
land resound with the religious spirit of its people.

Unfortunately, however, the old religion, the religion of
Bon, which held its sway all over the country before the intro-
duction of Buddhism, still made its presence felt in the daily
life of the people. This lowered the dignity of Buddhism,
mixing it up with the practices of superstitious, animistic
cult. Fear of some unknown power gripped the mind of
every Tibetan. Every natural phenomenon (a thunder, a
flood, an eclipse) was correlated to evil spirits. Every dark
spot (a cave, a hole in the wall, a crack in the rock) was
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filled with evil spirits. Hence prayer wheels turned without
ceasing, prayer flags fluttered in the air, prayer-lamps burnt
in every home, charms and amulets were worn on the person
in order to propitiate or to ward off these evil spirits. The
sub-soil, rich in borax and other minerals, was left untap-
ped for fear of disturbing the spirit of the ground. Spells
and incantations forced their way into the daily ritual.
There was the Absolute, impersonal and aloof, but together
with it there was also the ju-ju, the sorcerer which was also
most powerful. Every village, every town, the nation
itself had its own conjurer or oracle. Nothing could be
undertaken, in private or in public, without consulting
him. He was more feared than respected because he held
sternly in his hands the destiny of the people and of the
country (25)

An outsider would have found himself suddenly
thrown into a new strange world, where everything was
vague, undefined and mysterious. Nevertheless, the people
were happy, peace-loving and friendly with respect for
tradition and a desire for an uncomplicated way of life.
Hospitality and friendship were easily extended to strangers
and foreigners once they succeeded in gaining their con-
fidence. Death had no secret or terror for them because
they knew that the end of the solitary road there was the
transmigration, the passing of the soul into another form of
existence, in conformity with the inevitable law of karma.

Religion and environment helped in framing a modus
vivendi that gave Tibet its peculiar characteristics. There
were three main social groups ; the religious, the nobles,

and the peasants. Those who really mattered belonged to
the first two social groups ; the peasants were like the serfs,

an anonymous crowd, without personality and voice.
Outside the monasteries, the system was feudal. There was
unequal distribution of wealth between the landed aristo-
cracy and the poor toiling masses. Polyandry kept
the birth rate low in a land where the soil, rugged and
barren as it was, could only afford food for the few. The
natural and voluntary isolation of Tibet from the outside

25. Nuovo Ramusio, part IlI, p. 27-28.
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world rendered it static like the everlasting snow that rests
on the lonely Himalayan peaks.

These were, in short, the conditions of the new field of
work that awaited the first two missionaries as they set foot
in the Tibetan capital.

As it will be remembered, they had come to Tibet in the
expectation of finding some sprinklings of Christianity and
in the hope of reviving those smouldering embers. All
their toil and labour were based on this assumption. As
they looked round for signs of the lost faith, they seemed to
discover strange similarities to the mystery of the Holy
Trinity, Incarnation, Virgin birth, and many other Christian
tenets. The Greek Cross (really the swastika) marked
clearly every main doorway in the city. Monks wore the
resary around their neck or fingered it as they walked down
the streets. Divine Office was chanted alternately in the
monasteries by the two sections of the choir, just as it is
done in the west. It was all confusion and misleading.
Was this the land of the lost Christian communities of
which they had so often heard from merchants and travel-
lers ? Or was all this a mere hallucination ? This mission-
aries could not tell exactly, but they continued to believe
that the message of the Gospel was once preached to the
people of Tibet.

As they plodded on to Lhasa, the Prefect and Fr. Francis
Mary were again told by some traders that ‘‘the Worshippers
of the Cross’’ did exist in the vast land of central Asia.
There was even a talk of venturing farther afield in quest of
them, like wandering prospectors in search of gold. The
thought, however, of overstepping the territorial limits
assigned to them by the Congregation of Propaganda, and
the experience of the long disastrous journey made so far,
were deterrent enough to give up the idea.

“The Worshippers of the Cross’’, a group of people which
became known by that name, did actually exist in north-east
China, in the Shansi province, near the Great Wall. Their
ancestors, Christians of the Greek rite had come to China
in the eleventh century with the conquering Mongols. They
used to make a cross in the air with their hand over food and
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drink. This external sign made them to be known by people
of other faiths as ““The Adorers of the Cross’”. But the
group became virtually extinct, absorbed into the Buddhist
Mohammedan folds, but the appellation still stuck to them.
No one can say how far they were responsible for the belief
that the mysterious land of Cathay was inhabited by lost
Christian settlements (26).

Humble Beginnings

Beginnings are always humble and hard and the founda-
tion of the Tibetan Mission was particularly so. Enormous
difficulties’awaited the first missionaries there. The task of
learning the language was truly of gigantic proportions, for
there were no dictionaries, nor grammars, written in a com-
prehensible tongue upon which they could lay their hands
and make a start. Moreover, they could not avail them-
selves of the service of a language teacher or interpreter due
to their grinding poverty. The only course to be followed
was to mix with the people and learn from the people.
Mistakes and blunders did not matter, provided they made
themselves understood somehow.

The Tibetan language belongs to the Indo-China family
and is closely related to Burmese. Like Chinese, Tibetan is
a monosyllable language, using intonation and stress instead
of inflection. The Tibetan alphabet consists of 30 con-
sonants and 5 vowels ; literary spelling vastly differs from
phonetic transcription. There are, besides, two forms of
script, both in print and in writing. It is to be noted
further, that the literary or written language, used by the
upper-class, and the common parlance of the people, used
by the lower class, are so far apart, as to give the impression
of two different languages. The upper-class used a cultured
form of speech or an aristocratic jargon while the other a
patois or an illiterate manner of expression. The difficulties
of learning the language were therefore hard for a beginner
with no experience of oriental languages and no mentor to
give him a helping hand.

26. The Wise man from the West by Wincent Cronin, Rupert Hart-
Davis, London, 1955, pp. 220-226.
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If one tried to adapt oneself to the environment, the
manners and customs of the people, their food and diet,
their mentality and way of life, it called for great flexibility
of mind.

Food, to illustrate a single point, was at first particularly
difficult to get accustomed to. The staple food of Tibet
(known as rtsam-pa) is cheap and sustaining but unappetis-
ing and monotonous. A western traveller, who lived on it
for nearly three months, gives us the following description :

“It (rtsam-pa) is a parched barley meal, and can be
mistaken even in good light, for fine sawdust. You eat
it in tea, with butter if you have butter, or melted
mutton fat if you haven’t got butter, or with nothing
if you have got neither. You fill your shallow wooden
bowl with tea, then you let the butter melt in the tea
(the butter is wusually rancid and has a good cheesy
flavour) ; then, you put a handful of rtsam-pa in it. At first
it floates ; then, like a child’s castle of sand, its foundations
begin to be eaten by the liquid. You coax it with your
fingers until it is more or less saturated and has become a
paste ; this you kneed until you have a kind of doughty cake
in your hand and the wooden bowl is empty and clean’ (27).

As there was very little variety of food in Tibet for poor
people. they lived generally on rtsam-pa and butter-tea all
year round, morning, noon and night. Rice, mutton, dried
fruit and the like were costly luxury ; vegetables were a
rarity, except for a few radishes and some paprika (28).

All this, of course, was a mere preparation for the real
task ahead ; I mean, when the priests would actually be

27. News from Tartary, a Journey from Peking to Kashmir, by Peter
Fleming, London 1936, p. 108.

28. As every one knows, Buddhist are vegetarians, but in Tibet they
do eat meat. This is a custom which has come down to the
present day from the early pre-Buddhist times. The rigorous
climatic conditions require lots of calories to keep oneself strong
and fit, and so the Tibetan Buddhists have come to a compromise;
they do object to killing (to any sort of killing) but they do not
think it sinful to go to the shambles and purchase the meat of
slaughtered animals. Butchers, however, are regarded as sinners
and treated as outcasts,
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engaged in the work of conversion. For the present, how-
ever, it was enough for Frs. Joseph and Francis Mary to
pave the way, in prayer, study and deed as a prelude to
that culminating moment of their mission. Humbly and
inostensibly they drew up a modest programme of activity
and set down to work. To begin with, it was a good thing
that they could go about dressed in the rough brown habit
of the Order. This alone served as a means of propaganda
and to focus the attention of the people on them. The rest
would come as a matter of course. The inhabitants of
Lhasa soon noticed that these two gentlemen, who were
thought at first to be Kashmiri traders, were quite different
from the other foreigners in the town. They did not do any
business, lived and dressed very poorly and their whole
behaviour pointed to the fact that they were men of a class
by themselves, out of the ordinary calling of life (29).

During the first months of their stay in the capital, some
suspicion was even entertained about their real character,
and their nature of work. In an interview with the Regent,
Fr. Francis Mary allayed all misgivings by declaring that
they had come to Lhasa just to see the place and then move
on into some other country. As for going to China, he
added, it was still too cold to start on the journey ; as soon
as the season warmed up they would plan their future
programme. Speaking about the way they spent their time,
Fr. Francis Mary stated that he and his companion were
doctors and wherever they went they practised medicine for
God’s sake. This seemed to satisfy the inquirer (30).

When it became clear that the two Fathers were men set
apart, consecrated to God’s service, then they began to be
held in great esteem by all. The impact made by the
missionaries on public imagination was so favourable that
they became khown as the ““White Lamas’’—a title of great
respect and distinction (31).

29. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 37.
30. Nvuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 35.
31. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 37, 39, 43.
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A room was set aside in the small apartment for Divine
service. The altar, the holy pictures hanging from the wall,
the sanctuary lamp, the divine office chanted alternately by
the two priests was another humble way of advertising the
faith. The chapel soon became a source of attraction.
People started peeping in and then furtively slipped through
the door, till it became a familiar sight. Buddhist monks
also entered the chapel, paused for a while to admire the
Cross, showed signs of profound reverence and even pros-
trated themselves to the ground and kissed some of the reli-
gious objects (32). In their inexperience, the new comers
felt elated and thought that if they could master the
language, it would not be difficult to make converts. The
Tibetans were already Christians at heart.

Fr. Francis Mary, who already had long experience as a
doctor, began to treat patients, while Fr. Joseph attended to
the house chores. Whenever free from other work they
would plunge into the study of the language till the night
candle had burnt itself out. Luckily, medical herbs grew in
abundance round Lhasa or could be easily procured from
the local market, and other medical compounds could as
easily be had. This enabled the missionary doctor to con-
tinue his practice even when the supply of medicines
brought from Europe ran out. So successful was he in his
profession that his name was mentioned even in the *‘Peking
Gazette’’, the journal which was published in the Chinese
capital (33).

Within a short time, like a blazing fire, word spread far
and wide, that an unusual type of a man had appeared in the
city. He was a doctor, treated everyone, high and low,
alike, without charging anything, not even the cost of the
medicine he administered. He did it solely out of love for
his God and his brethren in God. This made a great
impression. There were a lot of doctors and quacks in the
capital, to be sure, but none had ever seen one like that

32. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, 51, 56.

33. Liber Memorialis O. F. M. Cap., Quarto Jam Pleno Saeculo Ab
Ordine Condito, Romae 1928, p. 305 ; Nuovo Ramusio, part I,
p. 68.
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bearded foreigner, who not only served everybody with a
joyful heart, but seemed pleased whenever patients called or
asked for him.

There lived in Lhasa a gentleman from Turkestan. He
had been under medical treatment for sometime, but neither
doctor, nor medicine nor incantation seemed to help him
out of his illness, till finally he was given up as a hopeless
case. At this critical juncture, Fr. Francis Mary stepped
into the picture. Through patience and skill he succeeded
in restoring the desperate man to health. Happy at the
miraculous recovery the gentleman, in gratitude, wanted to
reward his benefactor, but all pecuniary offers were firmly
declined. The only thing which was found acceptable to
the French missionary was the gift of a slave child six or
seven years old. This child was the first Christian flower
blossomed in the desolate garden of Lhasa. Soon, however,
it was to wing its flight to heaven. At the same time, a
Newari from Nepal, the servant of an Armenian business
man in the capital, was received into the Church. He was
given the name of John, after the beloved disciple of
Christ (34).

Not only did lay people trust the new foreign doctor
implicitly, but also monks and lamas began going to him,
feeling sure that his healing touch would do wonders.
Fr. Francis Mary treated successfully many of them. On
one occasion he cured a high-ranking lama of his ailments.
He himself was a medical practitioner and had been appoint-
ed to be the personal physician of the Regent and the Dalai
Lama (35).

The practice of medicine was surely the first step in the
right direction. It served to introduce the priests to the
public and to gain popularity. Once they had won the
confidence of the people, they could easily find their way to
speak of God and of the Christian religion. More could be
accomplished if the missionaries had a sound knowledge of
mechanics, mathematics and astronomy. These scientific
subjects were keenly sought after by the intelligentia of the

34. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 56 ; part III, p. 30, Giornale p. 104.
35. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p, 35, 43.
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country. Even here the resourceful Frenchman knew how
to acquit himself with credit. One day a clock was sent to
him by the Regent with the request to repair it. It was a
good opportunity to display his ability and make a good
impression on the ruling class of Lhasa and he did not miss
it. In taking the clock back, duly repaired, the Regent was
pleased to entertain the Fathers to a long friendly conversa-
tion, inquired after their religion, showed great appreciation
for their humanitarian work and at the end took leave by
stating that he was greatly edified at their manner of living
and at the faith they professed. Back home the two of them
had a pleasant surprise. The Regent to show his gratitude
sent some presents consisting of rice, butter and some fine
silk articles for the chapel. It was indeed a God sent gift as
the two Fathers were already struggling against the ugly
specter of starvation (36).

In the course of some months, the two missionaries had
established themselves into the life of the country and in the
hearts of the people. Their humble and unassuming way of
going about had gained the confidence and the respect of all.
On the other hand, their readiness to help and to serve had
slowly brushed aside all suspicion in regard to their presence
in Lhasa. Finally, they were accepted as a familiar part of
the landscape.

- The main difficulties seemed to have been surmounted,
except, of course, for the still precarious economic condi-
tions. The arrival of the three members of the second
expedition, which was hailed by all with boundless joy and
relief, made it possible to re-organise the distribution of
forces in the two working sectors of the mission and tenta-
tively make a bid to establish a new outpost at Patna. This
would greatly facilitate communications between Chanderna-
gore and Lhasa. There were now six missionaries to depend
upon in the consolidation of the work which had just been
started.

The three new comers had originally been detailed to
strengthen the mission manpower in Lhasa, but not all could

36. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 37.
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go there at the moment. Lack of accommodation and fear
that an addition to the already existing staff might strain the
financial conditions to breaking point, necessitated a revision
of plan. News had been receieved of late that it would not
be advisable to despatch the new recruits to the Tibetan
Capital as the two Fathers there were under the increasing
necessity of withdrawing to avoid starvation. Nevertheless,
Fr. Dominic was impatient to go lest the mission should
suffer for want of self sacrificing spirit and a determined will
to do the impossible to keep it alive and make it prosper.
It was, therefore, decided that Fr. Dominic and Bro. Michael
Angelo should take up their post at Lhasa at an early date.
Fr. Felix of Montecchio was to make a new beginning at
Patna, while Fr. John had to remain at Chandernagore to
continue the work which had already been started. Willing
to share in the cost of the expedition and to collect something
also that would prop up the financial situation in Lhasa, the
two Fathers, who were to remain behind in India, pooled
their resources and contributed their mite. Fr. John joyfully
surrendered whatever was left over of his allocation, which
was meant for his journey to Lhasa, and Fr. Felix deprived
himself of Rs. 200/-, the little he had saved by living frugally.
It was next to nothing, compared with the great need for
funds, but still an inspiring gesture and a noble act of
encouragement to live by (37).

On Ist November, 1708, Fr. Dominic and his companion (38)
footed their way through the green plains of the Gangetic
Valley into the dense malerious jungles of the Nepal terrain
and then on to the breath-taking heights of the Himalayan
mountains. Made wise by the experience of the members of
the first expedition they travelled incognito, dressed in the
garb of the indigenous religious mendicants, hoping somehow
that the ruse would spare them the machinations of the toll-
keepers and help in saving the much-needed money for a
better cause. They were partly successful in their attempt.

37. Nuovo Ramusio, part [, p. 45 ; Part III, p. 30.
38. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 46.
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A1 the end of February, 1709, the two missionaries walked
into Kathmandu like unknown travellers. A chance meeting
with Fr. Francis Mary made them reveal who they were.
This created a situation that, if it brought relief to the
French Missionary, was also a source of embarrassment
to them. Starved, sickly and dispirited, Fr. Francis Mary
had left LLhasa at the end of January 1709 to come down
to India, recoup his failing health and possibly go on to
Rome to report on the hopeless affairs of the Tibetan
Mission. On reaching Kathmandu in February he was
ordered to pay a heavy duty under the penalty of being
held up in the city till the amount was paid. The poor
Father was helpless. He had no money on him and was
looking to heaven for a sign of deliverance. He had heard
that some missionaries might be passing through Kathmandu
on their way to Lhasa, but the information could not be
confirmed and future prospects were grim. As good luck
would have it, Fr. Dominic and Bro. Michael Angelo were
strolling one day in the town when unexpectedly they came
across the aged missionary, who, by the way, was going
about dressed in the habit of the Order. They approached
him and made known their identity. Lifting up his hands
to heaven, radiant with joy, Fr. Francis Mary thanked God
for having sent him the two confreres at such a critical
time. Briefly he related his story and concluded that
unless he paid a road-tax of Rs. 100/- he would be kept as
a virtual prisoner in Kathmandu. Fr. Dominic promised to
help but begged of him not to tell any one that he and his
companions were Europeans, otherwise there would be no
end of trouble. In his happiness and in an unguarded
moment, Fr. Francis Mary gave them away. It was only
after a hard bargaining that the ransom price for the three
unfortunate people was reduced to Rs. 150/-. A bitter blow
to their rock-bottom finances (39).

Fr. Dominic and Bro. Michael Angelo strode into the
Forbidden City on the 19th May, 1709. There they found
the lonely, emaciated Prefect who bore the marks of starva-
tion and hardships written large on his face. Fr. Francis

39. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 46 ; part III p. 29.
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Mary arrived in Patna in a state of sheer exhaustion and
there the veteran missionary waited till his death, which
occurred in May 1709 (40).

Appealing for help

So far nothing much was achieved, but the foundations
of the mission were laid, in spite of the heavy draw-backs
that dogged every step of its progress. But the seed of
disintegration was gradually sprouting and gnawing within
and, if not checked in time, might bring the undertaking
to a premature end. Lack of funds and irregular remittances
gave cause for anxiety from the very start. They had waved
good-bye to their homeland almost four years ago, but no
financial help had been forthcoming. They had to be
satisfied with the little they had taken with them. When
Frs. Joseph and Francis Mary arrived in Lhasa they were
nearly penniless. The journey expenses were much higher
than one could anticipate. The loss of money suffered in
the journey drained still further their fast-dwindling
resources. Fr. Francis Mary had lost everything in the ship-
wreck and it was only the collection he made at Chander-
nagore among Catholics and Protestants that kept them still
alive (41).

It was true that the French missionary practised medicine
with a fair measure of success and that he did some other
odd jobs besides. It was, however, an unswerving principle
of all the Fathers in Tibet never to accept any remuneration
which might be given them on account of their services.
This principle was strictly adhered to even at the cost of
starvation. The motive behind this was that if they accep-
ted anything in the form of recompense for their work,
people might think that they were making a living for them-
selves under the guise or pretext of religion. Moreover,
begging in Tibet was considered disgraceful and the poor
Fathers did not want to resort to it in order to jeopardise
the future of mission. The only thing they did when money
was literally forced on them was to tell clients to go and

40. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 44-45.
41. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 40.
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buy with it some medical herbs or other similar ingredients
needed in the compounding of medicines so that other
people too might benefit by their ministration (42).

Since the beginning of 1708, it was becoming increasingly
evident that the mission was faced with an early extinction
unless some kind of help came to its rescue. Anyhow, to
make it last a little longer, trusting that Divine Providence
would not desert His children, they started cutting down
their expenses to the bare minimum. We read that their
monthly expenses were reduced to such a paltry sum that,
exchanged into Indian currency, it would be equal to about
Rs. 10/- or Rs. 12/-. They rigorously rationed themselves,
like those lost on the high seas, looking forward to the
hour of deliverance and praying that their scanty supply
might last till then. In their desperate attempt to live and
survive the ordeal they had to live like the poorest of the
poor. Their misery and squalor were so real and oppressive
that the Fathers were not ashamed to live on roots and
herbs like primitive savages (43).

Fr. Joseph of Ascoli would not give up the fight for
survival without tapping all possible resources at his
disposal. Some Chinese Christians at Lhasa had reported
to the Fathers that there was a Catholic mission station at
Sining in the Shen-si Province, to the north west of China,
fifty days® March from Lhasa. Not knowing the name of
the missionary in charge of the station and his exact address
Fr. Joseph ventured to write him a letter in Latin, dated
11th January, 1708, trusting his Guardian Angel to have it
delivered to the right person. He wrote expressing his
kind regards and the pleasure to be able to communicate
with a European and a fellow missionary. The letter went
on giving a short history, or rather a summary of the
Tibetan Mission and it rounded up by begging to be excused

42. Die aktensammlung des Bischofs Anastasius Hartmann zu ciner
Geschichte der Kapuzinermissionen in Tibet, Nepal und
Hindostan, Erstmals herausgegeben von P Adelhim Jann, OFM.
Cap., Luzern 1925, p. 28 ; Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 58.

43. Nuovo Ramusio, part III, p. 204-5.

69



if the sender requested to be favoured with a little help as
the two Fathers in Lhasa found themselves on the verge of
starvation. This letter set off a chain of reaction, which
made the round of China.

By sheer stroke of good fortune, the appeal for help fell
into the hands of Fr. Anthony of Castrocaro who was
working at Hsi-an fu (modern Sian or Changan) in the same
Shen-si province. The Father sent it on to his ecclesiastical
Superior, the Right Rev. Mgr. Bernardine della Chiesa,
Bishop of Peking. His Excellency forwarded the same in
original, accompanied by a strong recommendation, to
Charles Thomas Maillard Card. de Tournon, the same
Prelate to whom we referred earlier in this chapter, and
who was then at Macao. The kind-hearted Bishop of
Peking responded immediately to the appeal for help and
remitted a sum equivalent to Rs. 45/-. In his covering
letter His Excellency promised to send more and encouraged
the Fathers in Lhasa to persevere in their good work, seeing
sure that Divine Providence would help them in their needs.
The amount was transmitted to the Father stationed at
Hsi-an fu and through the good offices of an Armenian
merchant, a Franciscan Tertiary, by the name of Gabriel,
it was finally delivered to the Fathers in Tibet. The
missionary at Hsi-an fu, in a note addressed to Fr. Joseph
of Ascoli, regretted his inability to be of any immediate
assistance as he himself was in great straits. For five years
now he had received nothing from Rome. But he promised
to recommend the case to those in authority and expressed
the hope to send something later as he had heard that ships
from Europe had arrived in China. If there was something
for him he would surely share it with his commissioners in
Tibet.

Meanwhile the Card. Legate had already been informed
by the Sacred Congregation of Propaganda about the
establishment of the Capuchin mission in the mystic land of
Tibet and was urged to do all in his power to come to its
aid. Rome had also intimated to His Eminence that as all
available means to send the annual allocation to Tibet had
been tried, but due to wars on land and piracy at sea, it had
failed, so all responsibility rested on him for the present to
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render assistance. The Cardinal in turn approached Fr.
Anthony of Catrocaro, the Pro Vicar Apostolic of Kan-su,
in the north west of China. He was thought to bein a
better financial position and the right man who could render
assistance to fellow missionaries in Tibet as he was their
neighbour, and a good next-door neighbour at that, living
at a distance of sixty day’s journey from Lhasa. In short,
the will to help was there, great and sincere, but, as a matter
of fact, the conditions of the missionaries in China, though
slightly better, were not such as to render any appreciable
assistance to those labouring in Tibet. They too were
experiencing the same difficulties and were practically left
to themselves to fight their battles and fend their way.

A more substantial contribution might have been received
but for an unexpected turn of events which upset the then
favourable situation and brought things to a climax. The
Cardinal Legate, the mainstay of the missions in the East,
died in solitary confinement during those troubled years.
At the same time a false rumour had been circulated among
the missionaries in China that the Fathers in Tibet had left
for Bengal. The departure of Fr. Francis Mary might have
been responsible for this rumour.

The Friars who had come to the help of their Capuchin
brethren in Lhasa belonged to the Observant branch of the
great Franciscan family. With their headquarters at Peking
they had established, since 1701, a net-work of missionary
stations in the heart of China. Of particular interest is the
fact that at Hsi-an fu they actually found some native
Chinese Christians and also a few more scattered in the
neighbouring towns and villages. There is nothing to show
whether these were the descendants from the lost Christian
communities of mediaeval times or immigrant converts from
some other parts of China (44).

The great distress of the Prefect did not prevent him from
writing pressing letters to his confreres on the other side
of the Himalaya. Feverish inquiries were made if by chance
the annual allocation had reached the Indian shores or

44, Terzorio, pp. 253-257 ; Nuovo Ramusio, part I, pp. 63-68.
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whether there was any hope of some relief, but no one
could give a definite answer. Rome, on the other hand,
had not forgotten the ambassadors of Christ, whom she had
sent out into the world like the apostles of old, but, as we
have already mentioned, communications had become risky
and uncertain. Meanwhile, the poor Fathers up in Lhasa
were languishing away.

One of the Prefect’s begging letters reached Chandernagore
just after the arrival of the members of the second
expedition. Moved to pity at his plight, and anxious at
_the same time to prolong the life of mission till the dawn of

better days, they squeezed their meagre resources and a
letter of exchange for Rs. 272/- to be paid in Lhasa was sent
to him through an Armenian trader. It was an elixir of
life, but the agony persisted (45).

Lingering on

Fr. Dominic of Fano reluctantly agreed to play the role
of a doctor and continue the good work started by the late
Fr. Francis Mary of Tours. He forced himself into the
profession, moved first by the exhortations of his confreres
and then realising how the medical practice could be used
as a very good means of apostolate.

The Prefect, exhausted in body and spirits, had already
decided to follow the example of his first companion and
come down to India, but the unexpected appearance in
Lhasa of the two new comers made him change his mind.
Their company cheered him a bit and toned up his morale.
He now felt that his presence was essential to facilitate their
task and make available to them the fruit of his own
experience. This thought made him hang on a little longer,
but not for very long. Since the beginning of 1710 the
situation had turned so bad that something had to be done
about it. With no funds or food in the house, without any
news as to when some relief might come, with no letter of
encouragement or word of comfort, their morale had sunk
so low as to give way toa sense of frustration and near
despair. And so the final, heart-rending decision was taken.

45. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 42.
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All had to quit and that too before the winter set in and
blocked the wind-swept snow-clad mountain route.
Fr. Dominic of Fano, however, a man of courage and
determination, asked to hold on alone, to cling on to the
sorely tried but dearly beloved mission.

Before parting they came to an understanding—if a
remittance from Rome had arrived in Bengal, Fr. Johan
was to take it up immediately to Lhasa and remain there as
Fr. Dominic’s companion. If otherwise, a letter of obedience
would be sent to the lonely missionary in the capital directing
him to abandon the field and withdraw into Bengal (46).

With a twinge in his heart and tears rolling down his
sunken cheeks, the Prefect embraced Fr. Dominic in the
late summer of 1710 and made for the south. He was
accompanied by Bro. Michael Angelo and John, the Nepalese
convert. Shuffling along the Chumbi Valley and climbing
over the high mountain passes of Sikkim, the party safely
reached Purnea, in the Moghul territory. South of Purnea,
at a place called Karhagola (where the route coming down
from Tibet and Sikkim intersected with the road that went
from Patna to Chandernagore) the travellers parted ways.
The Brother was told to proceed to Chandernagore and
replace Fr. John of Fano, while the poor Prefect dragged
himself on to Patna. He staggered into the city like a ghost,
a man more dead than alive, like a Rip Van Winkle. A
hospitable gentleman of the English Factory kindly gave
him shelter, but within a few days of his arrival, on the
20th December, 1710, his noble soul departed from this
world (47). The fatigue of the long and painful journey,
the anguish and untold hardships over the years brought
him to a premature grave. He died at the still early age of
37, without the comforts of religion and the presence of a
confrere to alleviate his last hours and close his dying eyes.
Fr. Felix, the Vice-Prefect who was then stationed at Patna
and whom the dead Prefect had hoped to meet and discuss
with him the latest developments of the mission, had

46. Nuovo Ramusio, part 111, p. 30.
47. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 47.
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temporarily absented himsell. He had gone to Bengal to
approach for the Sacrament of Confession, having had no
opportunity to receive the Sacrament for about a year, and
to attend to some other business.

Faithful to his promise the deceased Prefect had written
earlier to Fr. John at Chandernagore to come and meet him
at Patna. He had also told him that if any subsidy had of
late arrived from Europe, he was to take it up to Lhasa as
soon as possible and to remain there to keep company with
Fr. Dominic. Happily, the much-needed manna had fallen
from heaven like a flash of light amidst the oppressive gloom.
Good Fr. John had left Chandernagore at the beginning of
December, 1710, for Patna. At Rajmahal, the border town
between Bengal and Bihar, he met at the caravanserai—a
resting place for travellers—Bro. Michael Angelo. He had
come thus far when his legs refused to carry him any
further. Prostrated with disease and fatigue, he had stopped
there in order to get strong enough to continue the journey.
Still ridden with fever, and run down in health, the poor
Brother arrived at last at Chandernagore in a hopeless
condition. Rest and the care lavished on him by Fr. Felix,
who had temporarily taken charge of the hospice, and the
medical attention received at the hands of the French doctors
in the station, soon gave him a new lease of life (48).

Having learnt from Bro. Michael Angelo that the Prefect
had also suffered a lot in the treck and that he was not too
well, Fr. John made haste to get into Patna, trusting to find
him alive. On reaching the city he was told that the young
Prefect had died eleven days earlier. Grieved and dazed at
the news, Fr. John wandered about like a lost soul and for
a day he could not speak to anyone or eat anything.

A resident Armenian Catholic hearing that a Catholic
priest was in the station sent for him. The venerable old
man greeted the despondent missionary with these words: “Be
of good heart, Father, be of good heart, a saint has died in the
city’’; and went on to explain how on the Thursday, prior to his
death, he had gone to see the Prefect at the English Factory to

48. Nuovo Ramusio, part III, p. 32.
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give him some medicine and to cheer him up. Smiling the dy-
ing man had replied—‘*My dear Sir, do not worry about me ;
within three days I shall die. I know for certain that I will
not recover from the sickness”’. In fact, the next Saturday,
at dusk, the holy minister of God went to his eternal rest,
the Armenian gentleman concluded. The prediction of his
death and the happening of other future events he seemed to
have foretold before passing away, caused a great sensation
in the Christian community in Patna. The Prefect was buried
with great reverence and high esteem in the Protestant
cemetery of the English Factory (49).

Wrapped up in his sad thoughts, Fr. John gave the last
blessing to grave of the heroic Prefect and resumed his
journey. Striking east he took with him the Nepalese
convert and some travelling documents of the deceased,
which, he thought, would also be useful.

Going up the same beaten track of the late Prefect, Fr.
John hastened to bring some consolation to the lonely figure
now left on the Tibetan heights and to convey to him the
sad news that the Prefect was no more in the land of the
living. In Sikkim the poor Father fell dangerously ill.
Alone in a foreign country, without any knowledge of the
language, it must have been a prodigious task for him to
struggle on in his sickness and nurse himself back to health.
However, all was not so bad and was for the best. About
this time the Regent at Lhasa had summoned the Maharaja
of Sikkim, a tributary state, to come and pay his homage as
an act of submission to the newly-installed puppet Dalai
Lama. The Maharaja noting that Fr. John held a passport
(any travelling document was then called a passport) issued
by the Regent and thinking that he or some of his associates
carried weight with the authorities in Lhasa, deemed it
proper to add him to his retinue. In this way the Father
enjoyed a privileged position with all the ease, comfort and
advantages that go with it, such as free means of conveyance,
the honour to be treated as a guest and so on. For 25 days
it was a comfortable journey. Even when the hill pony
could not negotiate the steep mountain trail, it was not

49. Terzorio, p. 267-268 ; Nuovo Ramusio, part IlI, p. 31.
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difficult for the missionary to find men to carry him on their
shoulders, though on these occasions he was made to pay
heavily out of his own pocket.

On the Sikkim-Tibetan borders the Maharaja had to stop
for a few days for some important state affairs. Fr. John
was given the option either to tarry till the Maharaja had
dealt with his state business or to make the rest of the
journey on his own. Realising that the worst was over, and
that he had not fully recovered from his illness, he preferred
to hurry on to Lhasa. He felt that the company of Fr.
Dominic and the complete rest he could take on arrival
would be the best panacea to put him again on his feet.
Late in May 1711, he had the joy at last to be at home in the
small mission house at Lhasa. The four months spent between
bed and convalescence spoke of the premium the poor
Father had to pay as a consequence of his illness and of the
one hundred and fifty days of hard travel (50).

Beyond Endurance

During the ten months Fr. Dominic remained all alone in
the Tibetan capital he showed himself to be a man of faith
and action. Undaunted by the lean days, and by the still
bleaker prospects that lay ahead, the valiant Friar laboured
on unsparingly, sustained by an abiding faith.

The practice of medicine had made him popular. He was
in such great demand that he felt bound to carry on his
profession even when he was unwell. Once he was bitten
by a rabid dog which caused him fever for three continuous
months. The pressure of work brought to bear upon him
by people in high circles or of the moving entreaties of the
patients themselves, compelled him to administer to all,
though he himself badly needed rest and medical attention.
People from every walk of life flocked to him with complete
trust in his magic powers—in fact his medical skill was con-
sidered more than the magic of the white man. The success-
ful treatment of the Regent’s wife (Lha-bzan Khan was the
Regent’s name) figured amongst the most remarkable cures
effected in the ranks of the elite in the capital.

50. Nuovo Ramusio, part III p, 32-33.
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The example of his austere and ascetic life served to preach
the faith more eloquently than any sermon. The spirit of
poverty and detachment from the things of this world were
an eye-opener to the Buddhist monks and to the ordinary
lay people, so much so that they never ceased to comment
upon it in the most bewildering terms. The Regent, talking
to some of his intimate friends, once remarked I do not
understand who this white Lama is. He is not a trader
because he does not carry on any business. He is not a knave
because he is welcome everywhere like a friend ; enters into
private homes and no one seems to complain about him,
nay, all seem to trust him implicitly. If he is called to
attend to a patient, he is immediately at his bed-side,
without inquiring about his social status. If a medicine is
needed he gives it freely ; when offered gold and silver, he
turns it down on the plea that his religion commands him
to do good to all for the sake of his God and out of love
for men. I cannot really explain how a man can leave his
country, his relations and friends, toil on for years to reach
our land, pay for it out of his own pocket, and then serve
our people with care and love without expecting any-
thing for his labour. A religion that moves its followers to
go all out to help our neighbour lovingly and disinterestedly
must be truly a good one and quite above common human
understanding.”

These things were conveyed to Fr. Dominic by a
government official who from the very beginning had let out
a small apartment to the first missionaries. This government
servant further stated that the Regent was aware that in
China there were similar type of people. They also had
come from a strange foreign country and professed a strange
foreign law. Some Chinese natives were so enthralled by
their manner of life, dedicated service, and wonderful
teaching that they had become their followers. May be, so
the Regent commented, that these White Lamas have come
here for the same purpose. Fr. Dominic side-stepped the
remark and simply pointed out that his religion forbade to
make conversions by force, but if any one of his own accord
and out of inner persuasion, became convinced of the
truthfulness of the religion and was ready to embrace it, he
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would be only too glad to enlist such a person among the
followers of his belief. The Tibetan gentleman was deeply
impressed, became more familiar with the Father and showed
greater interest in all the things concerning the faith. Not
satisfied with this heart to heart conversation, he asked to
see the chapel and witness some of the ceremonies. He was
all praise for the religious objects noticed and the
explanation given (51).

A further step in the propagation of the faith was made
when Fr. Dominic had the chance to speak to the Regent in
person. They entered into conversation that covered a wide
range of religious topics and opened up a new vista. The
missionary did not precisely explain the motive of his
activity and the purpose for which the white lamas are sent
out into the wide non-Christian world, but he made it
sufficiently clear. It was up to the Regent to understand
and draw his own conclusion. This was a heartening and
refreshing talk; the beginning of a road which seemed to lead
to a fair start and to the ultimate goal.

Fr. Dominic had gradullay come to realise that without
a deeper knowledge of the language and the help ofa
catechism to acquaint the ordinary inquirer about the main
tenets of the faith, it would not be possible to draw up a
programme of missionary activity. So far quite a lot of his
time had been taken up by the study and practice of
medicine. A pgood thing in itself, no doubt, but not the
whole thing. The practice of medicine went a long way to
the sowing of the seed of Christianity but it was only an
auxiliary means to an end. It was now more important
to concentrate on the end itself and try a more direct form
of apostolate. Though funds were lacking, he went on with
his scheme all the same, fully convinced that a small
catechism was equally essential to spread the faith as was
daily bread for the sustenance of the body. Without trying
it, he felt he would fail in his mission. Therefore, he
engaged an interpreter (a lay man) and a scribe (a religious)
for the purpose and agreed to pay them Rs. 2.50 and Rs. 3,00
per month respectively. The work went on slowly and under

51. Nuovo Ramusio, part ITI, p. 34-35.
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trying conditions, but it was finally brought to a successful
end (52).

Zealous and enterprising as he was, Fr. Dominic thought
he could do a litle more for establishing the mission. It all
went well, the apostolic field would not be confined to Lhasa
alone, but branch off, like a vigorous and fruitful tree, in
every direction. The capital could be made the base of the
missionary forces which would operate in the surrounding
districts. With this in mind, in 1711, he made an exploration
tour, which took him to the province of Takpo (Dvags-po)
in the south east of Tibet (53).

Casting his visionary glance in the far distance, Fr.
Dominic seemed to sce a pale, flickering light breaking over
the land of the lamas. There was also a dim vision of the
Cross in the distant horizon, but faint and languid like a
shadowy figure. There was promise in the air and
expectancy in the sky and great anticipation that the day
may break, bright and clear. Soon, however, the scene was
to change, moving fast to an anti-climax.

Fr. John had brought some pecuniary relief to the
destitute mission. He had even taken a loan of Rs. 100/-
and sold some odds and ends of the Chandernagore house to
give it some economical stability, but now everything was
reduced to the last farthing. Most of it had gone in paying
debts contracted in the past, so that soon the two priests
found themselves once again on the rocks.

The last ships of the season had already arrived from
Europe. Did they bring anything for the Tibetan
Missionaries? Some help, some hope to sustain them in the
present critical circumstances? That is what all had ardently
been praying for. Alas! once again they had to register a
blank year. Sadly disappointed, and with a bleeding heart,
the Vice-Prefect wrote on the 8th October, 1711, to the
Superior at Lhasa informing him that for yet another year
they had to go without any help from home. Hard-pressed
for money and even in debt, poor Fr. Felix was in anguish

52. Nuovo Ramusio, part III, p. 35.
53. Nuovo Ramusio, part I, p. 54.
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and pains realising on the one hand the urgent, instant
need for funds, and on the other his inability to bring relief
to his brethren in sheer distress.

The letter reached Fr. Dominic on 13th December (54).
On reading it, his heart sank. There was now no hope and
no time to be lost. A staggering dilemma confronted him
with stark reality. He had to choose between quitting the
mission before things became unbearable and before the
season prevented him from leaving or face starvation and
the fearful prospect of being carried off by a slow lingering
death. The right of survival had priority claim. The two
missionaries agreed to abandon Lhasa and to come down to
the warm Indian climate. It broke their hearts, but there
was no alternative and it could not be helped; the future was
in God’s hands. In Patna and Chandernagore there were
Catholics and Protestants always ready to help. Here they
could beg for their daily bread, a thing they refused to do in
Tibet. It made a difference. They felt that begging among
people of the same faith, who already knew them, and were
acquainted with the ideal of poverty professed by the
Mendicant Orders, was quite different from begging among
non-Christians, for the latter may misinterpret their action
and mistake them for loafers.

Christmas 1711 was a colourless, cheerless day for Frs.
Dominic and John, for on that day of joy and glory they had
to suffer the humiliation of defeat and witness their work of
five years, into which all had been staked, crumble down
before their eyes like a pack of cards. All was now lost
except the hope of an early return. Having packed and
sealed in two different boxes the few church articles, some
books and medicines, they handed over the keys of the house
to their landord. He promised to keep everything safely in
his own house till they would come back to Lhasa. Then
the two sad looking priests gave a parting look to the city of
Lhasa, at its soaring mountain peaks covered with snow, to
take with them, as a souvenir, the scene that had been the
arena of their apostolic labours, and finally headed for the
warm Indian plains.

54. Terzorio, p. 271, note No. 2.

80



The route through Sikkim at this time of year proved
very trying. Thick layers of snow and ice covered
the passes and the pace of the march was slow and tough
beyond all endurance. Long lines of footholds had to
be cut with the sword (the only mountaineering gear they
had) in the firm snow of the gullies. Their hands became
more useful than their feet in crawling over the mountain
side or in fighting against the obstacles of deep ravines,
Once the inexperienced travellers found themselves at dusk
over a ridge which stood out like a small island in a sea of
snow and frost. There were no trees aroun